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Cover image: Bringing to life the UK Pavilion for
Shanghai Expo 2010. Our expert consultants in
Adams Kara Taylor, our specialist engineering brand
that is part of WYG Group, provided structural and
civil engineering services on the UK Pavilion which is
the centre piece at the Shanghai Expo 2010. The
Pavilion was developed by Thomas Heatherwick and

is a six-storey object formed from 60,000 slender transparent rods, which
extend from the structure and quiver in the breeze. It scooped Britain’s top
international architectural award, the prestigious Royal Institute of British
Architects’ Lubetkin Prize 2010.
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1. Chairman’s Statement

Introduction

This year was one of great change at WYG.  A major

capital restructuring was successfully completed, the

future strategic direction and organisation of the

Group was established and costs were significantly

reduced in response to the very difficult market 

conditions in the UK and Ireland.  Good progress was

made in implementing the three-part strategy which

we embarked on in January 2009.  This focuses on

creating a more efficient business structure that is fit

for purpose, globalises our core capabilities and 

creates ‘peaks of excellence’ in our chosen markets

and geographies.  

Against this background, our revenue reduced from

£261.6m to £220.6m and operating profit before

exceptional and other items from £17.0m to £7.2m.

Cash generation, however has been strong.

The global markets in which we operate have proved

more resilient than some of our domestic markets

and I am pleased to report that international revenue

has grown by £12.6m to £65.4m. 

Refinancing

In January 2010, shareholders approved the terms of

a fundamental refinancing of the Group.  Under the

terms of the refinancing approximately £52.9m of the

Group’s indebtedness was converted into new 

ordinary and preference shares.  We agreed a new

three year £58.25m debt facility with our lenders and

a €38.0m committed bonding facility to support our

international business.  This is a more robust and

stable financial platform for the future development

of the Group.

22

‘The global markets
in which we 
operate have
proved more
resilient than some
of our domestic
markets and I am
pleased to report
that international
revenue has grown
by £12.6m to
£65.4m.’
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The Board recognises that WYG’s business is

founded on the talent and commitment of our

employees who continue to work with clients to

deliver exceptional standards of client service.

Therefore an important element of the 

refinancing was the allocation of 24.5% of the

ordinary shares to an employee benefit trust to

reward and incentivise existing and future staff. 

I am pleased to report that all employees who

were employed on permanent contracts at the

time of our refinancing were eligible to participate

in the new incentive scheme.

As a consequence of the refinancing, which

reduced the proportion of shares in public hands,

WYG’s shares are now traded on AIM rather than

the Official List of the London Stock Exchange.

Given the current position of the Company, the

Board takes the view that the reduced costs and

increased flexibility associated with trading on

AIM make it a more appropriate market for

WYG’s shares.

Strategic Review

A comprehensive strategic review was conducted

in the year.  This highlighted a number of areas

where we can build on our strong market position

and some new areas where we have the skills

and resources to attain a substantial place in the

market.  To do this we began the process of

reshaping our operations away from a geographic

business unit structure to one based on capability

such that each area of activity is managed on a

global basis.  This process is now substantially

complete and is providing a catalyst across the

Group to stimulate increased international 

collaboration.  Our ambition is that the Group

operates in a seamless and ‘boundary-less’ 

manner on a global platform across all our 

operations to meet the needs and ambitions of

our clients.

Going forward, the business will be focused and

report in four key market segments, namely:

� Buildings & Critical Infrastructure

� Transport Solutions

� Energy, Sustainability & Environment and 

� Risk & Assurance Services

During the financial year steps were taken to

reduce capacity and costs having regard to 

prevailing market conditions.  Employee numbers

reduced by 620 net during the year.  

The strategic review also highlighted a number of

opportunities for us to operate more efficiently

from fewer office locations, with fewer indirect

staff and to de-risk the business further.

Following the year end therefore, we have also

initiated a programme to rationalise our UK 

property portfolio and reduce the ratio of indirect

to direct staff in line with sector and industry

norms to create a more competitive and flexible

cost base.  

On 30 June 2010 we completed the transfer of

our rail business to Amey for a nominal 

consideration.  We were a relatively small opera-

tor in this market and the Board concluded that

the core UK railway engineering industry was not

an area of strategic focus for us going forward.  

As part of the strategic review we established our

Commercial Development & Operations Process

(CDOP).  This is a framework that supports 

business operations over the entire lifespan of a
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project from opportunity through to learning from

experience.  It is designed to ensure that we

deliver value-for-money, quality services and we

target our resources and manage professional

and contractual risk more effectively.  

Finally, we changed the Company’s name from

White Young Green plc to WYG plc on 18

December 2009 to align the name and branding

of the Company with the other companies in the

Group.   

Building on Client Success

As trusted partners to our clients, our dedicated

professionals provide in-depth expertise to deliver

solutions to some of our markets’ most 

sophisticated assignments and are committed to

improving the quality of the built, natural and

social environment.  

In the year, we won a four-year, €15.3 million

project that builds on a previously secured

€15.1m project to restore and upgrade the 

transport, environment and energy infrastructure

across the Western Balkans.  These two projects

now represent WYG International’s largest ever

single programme of work.

In addition, we have opened overseas offices in

Bosnia and Herzegovina, a subsidiary company in

Croatia and we expect to form a further 

subsidiary company in South Africa soon to 

support our growth in these countries.

Although domestic markets have been and

remain very challenging, we continue to maintain

and grow strong relationships with our domestic

clients.  Earlier this year, we were appointed by

the Ministry of Defence to provide professional

and technical support services for property and

construction projects under a four-year 

framework.

During the year our people and work have been

recognised with some major awards including

awards from the Institution of Civil Engineers,

BREEAM (BRE Environmental Assessment

Method) and the Royal Institute of British

Architects Award 2010. 

Board

On 31 July 2009, my appointment as Chairman of

the Board was announced, as was Graham Olver’s

appointment as Group Services Director and

Company Secretary, both with effect from 3

August 2009.  Robert Barr was appointed Senior

Independent Non Executive Director.  Brian

Duckworth stepped down as Chairman and left

the Board on 3 August 2009 and John

Richardson, having indicated his intention to

retire, delayed his retirement until 31 January

2010 to support completion of the refinancing.  

I would like to thank Brian and John for their

service with WYG. David Jeffcoat was appointed

to the Board on 16 December 2009 and is the

new Chairman of the Audit & Risk Committee.

Outlook

Whilst we expect our domestic market to remain

very challenging and unpredictable for the 

foreseeable future, we are encouraged by the

way in which some important international 

markets for our services are holding up and this

should partially mitigate the effect of the 

difficulties in the UK and Irish markets.  Looking
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ahead, our ambition is to continue on our journey

which will see us offering technical expertise across

global markets and to capture market share by 

delivering technical excellence to our existing and

new clients in each of our chosen markets.  It is a

critical thread of our three-part strategy to leverage

our international position to create greater 

geographical and end-market diversity, particularly

across the international private sector. 

Although I am pleased with the progress made 

during the year to reshape the Group so that it 

continues to successfully compete on a global 

platform, I expect ongoing focus on cost and 

structural efficiency over the next 12 months.

Concern over the detailed and long-term impact of

both the Comprehensive Spending Review and the

Strategic Defence Spending Review continues to

induce uncertainty across both the public and private

sector markets.  The likelihood therefore is that,

despite our international success, the short-term

future will remain very challenging for the Group.

‘Although I am pleased
with the progress made 
during the year to
reshape the Group so
that it continues to 
successfully compete on
a global platform, 
I expect ongoing 
focus on cost and 
structural efficiency
over the next 12
months.’

Mike McTighe
Chairman
01 November 2010
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2. Business Review

The Business Review has been prepared by the

Board for the members of WYG to provide a 

summary of the performance and financial 

position of the Group in the year to 30 June 2010

and the underlying trends and factors which are

likely to affect future performance.

2.1 Operational Performance
- Overview

We successfully completed our refinancing on 8

January 2010 which has created a three year

financial platform from which the Board can build

a sustainable and robust business model that is

operationally structured to optimise both core

technical and socio-economic skills across chosen

geographical markets.

Since refinancing, the Board set out to restructure

the Group to underpin further its three-part 

strategy.  At the heart of the restructuring, the

Board is focused on de-risking the business to

create a flexible and competitive operating cost

base.  

Trading conditions in many of the Group’s 

domestic markets were generally challenging 

during the financial year and there remains 

ongoing uncertainty around UK public sector

spending.  We therefore continue to focus on

optimising performance across our established

international operating businesses.    

WYG Management Services and WYG

Environment Planning Transport traded broadly in

line with Board expectations during the financial

year.  WYG International performed strongly with

significant new appointments being gained during

the year and its results were ahead of Board

expectations.  This international performance is at

the heart of the our three-part strategy and the

Paul Hamer, Chief Executive Officer

David Wilton, Group Finance Director
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Board will continue to build on this success going

forward.  Within WYG Engineering, the buildings

business traded in line with expectations but the UK

rail business performed relatively poorly and this

business was divested on 30 June 2010.  Market

conditions in Ireland continued to deteriorate during

the first half of the calendar year and, as a result,

the financial performance of WYG Ireland was 

significantly behind Board expectations.  

We have enhanced our working capital 

management procedures and have made 

considerable progress in the area of credit 

control where cash generation is significantly

ahead of expectations and working capital levels

are markedly improved from the past.  

As part of our ongoing restructuring and 

de-risking process, a number of key strategic 

decisions were taken in the period, particularly

around the Republic of Ireland and Engineering 

businesses, resulting in us incurring substantial

exceptional costs during the financial year. Decisions

like these are never easy and resulted in a 620 net

headcount reduction across the Group during the

year.  Going forward, further improvements to the

operating cost base will be generated through a

focussed programme of UK office consolidations and

additional service efficiency gains. These steps will

result in further exceptional costs in the year to come.

With our three year finance facility in place, we also

reviewed our business information system 

requirements and during the year took the difficult

decision to mothball the management information

systems upgrade initiative that commenced in

December 2007.  After a thorough review we decided

it was no longer proportionate to the shape and

structure of the Group’s operation.  Instead we are

developing our information system based on the 

current platforms and the Board is confident that the

system can be significantly enhanced at a reasonably

modest cost and relatively low implementation risk. 

‘Trading conditions in
many of the Group’s 
domestic markets were
generally challenging 
during the financial
year and there remains 
ongoing uncertainty
around UK public sector
spending.  The Group
therefore continues to
focus on optimizing 
performance across 
our established 
international operating
businesses.’

Managing a major Ministry 

of Defence framework

Our expert consultants have been appointed

by Defence Estates (DE), part of the

Ministry of Defence, to provide professional

and technical support services for property

and construction projects under a four-year

framework. This Principal Support Provider

Contract covers a wide geographical area

under DE Operations North through client

offices in Lisburn Barracks Northern Ireland,

RAF Lossiemouth, HMNB Faslane and Rosyth

in Scotland and Catterick Garrison, Sutton

Coldfield and RAF

Brampton in

England.
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2.2 Financial Performance

In the year to 30 June 2010, gross revenue

decreased by 16% to £220.6m (2009: £261.6m).

Revenue attributable to third parties, on which we do

not make a margin, decreased to £27.6m (2009:

£47.7m).  Net revenue, which reflects the value of

the work done by our own people, decreased by

10% to £193m (2009: £213.9m).

The profit performance continues to reflect the 

challenging market conditions in the majority of our

markets and the ongoing restructuring of the Group.

Operating profit before exceptional and other items,

decreased by 58% to £7.2m (2009: £17.0m).

The operating loss after exceptional and other items

was £10.2m (2009: £123.7m).  The operating margin

on net revenue before exceptional and other items

was 3.2% (2009: 6.5%).  Profit before taxation and

before exceptional and other items was £2.0m

(2009: £12.1m).  Exceptional and other items were

£23.8m (2009: £141.0m).

Basic earnings per share were 4.6p (2009: restated

16p) adjusted for the exceptional and other items

referred to above.  Earnings per share after 

exceptional and other items were a loss per share of

31p (2009: Loss per share 223.6p)  Cash generated

from operations was £9.5m (2009: £12.5m) and 

represents 133% (2009: 73%) of operating profit

before exceptional and other items.

Net debt at the year end was £33.9m.  This figure is

stated after the refinancing which was completed on

8 January 2010 and hence it is difficult to compare

with the prior year.  The proforma balance sheet

published with the interim results for the six months

to 31 December 2009 on 25 February 2010 disclosed

a proforma net debt figure of £38.1m.  Bearing in

mind that we incurred cash costs of c£6.5m in 

aggregate in respect of professional and other fees

‘Bearing in mind
that the Group
incurred cash 
costs of c£6.5m 
in aggregate in
respect of 
professional and
other fees paid
after completion of
the refinancing, the
year end net debt
figure reflects a
strong cash 
performance, 
and is significantly
ahead of 
expectations.’ 
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paid after completion of the refinancing, the year

end net debt figure reflects a strong cash per-

formance and is significantly ahead of expecta-

tions.  Net debt excluding cash balances held

within our captive insurance company and

restricted cash balances held predominantly with-

in the international 

business unit was £36.6m.

The order book at 30 June 2010 was £215m

(2009: £260m).

2.3 Dividend

No final dividend is proposed.

2.4 Strategy

The Board introduced our three-part strategy in

January 2009 to:

1. create a more focused and 

efficient business

2. globalise the Group and

3. create “peaks of excellence” 

across critical and sustainable 

sectors

Good progress has been made on all three fronts

but particularly on internationalising the Group.

Traditionally our international presence was

focused on providing programme management

and policy advice to countries and communities

impacted by social issues, environmental 

emergencies, ethnic strife and political turmoil.

We help to stabilise and improve living conditions

in impoverished regions and establish basic

human infrastructure services.   

Since the introduction of the our three-part 

strategy, the objective has been to build on the

traditional international service lines by enhancing

technical capabilities.  Revenue generated 

overseas has been encouraging as the global

markets in which the Group operates have proved

more resilient than some domestic markets. 

The Board intends to continue building on our

existing operations in key countries to optimise

global opportunities while concentrating on being

“best in class” in our chosen markets.  

We have restructured our internal operations into

capabilities in order to match our expertise to the

best opportunities regardless of geography; this

has removed duplication of effort and provided

leadership that can enhance technical excellence

and client delivery.  Further reshaping will be

required as we continue our rationalisation and

consolidate our offices and enhance our ability to

operate from super-centres that operate more 

collaboratively across the global arena.  

2.5 Employees

At our heart we are a people business and as we

move through the implementation of our three-

part strategy we acknowledge that we have to

retain our talented professionals and help them

find fulfilling work.  We also want to provide the

means for them to deliver their skills and 

knowledge to add value for our clients.

At the end of June 2010 we employed 2,148 

permanent employees compared with 2,768

twelve months ago. This net reduction masks the

investment in a number of growing business

areas.  The transfer of around 100 colleagues to

Amey from our UK rail business and the reduction

of non fee-earning staff in other parts of the busi-

ness where we sought to improve efficiency are

included in this figure.

Whilst the financial year proved challenging with

domestic operational streamlining taking place we
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have focused on maintaining a positive 

employment climate and will continue to recruit

selectively and to develop the skills of individuals

and the new capability areas within the Group as

a whole. 

2.6 Exceptional and Other 
Items

Exceptional items are those that are both material

and non-recurring and whose significance is 

sufficient to warrant separate disclosure and 

identification within the consolidated financial

statements and are disclosed within their relevant

business segment within segmental reporting.

Items that may give rise to classification as

exceptional items include, but are not limited to,

significant and material restructuring closures and

reorganisation programmes, asset impairments,

and the profit or losses on the closure of offices.

They have been separately identified as they 

represent an investment in the future 

performance of the Group and are not considered

to be 'business as usual' expenses and have a

varying impact on different businesses and

reporting periods.

We incurred substantial exceptional costs in the

financial year.  These arose predominantly from

the restructure of the Group and related to

redundancies, fees arising on the refinancing and

office closure costs, the further write down of

WIP and trade receivables balances in Ireland as

this part of the business was restructured, the

write-off of the significant investment in the 

management information systems upgrade and

the impairment of goodwill.  The exceptional

costs were partially offset by the gain recognised

on the conversion of debt to equity as part of the

restructuring.  A significant element of the excep-

tional and other items did not represent a cash

cost in the financial year.  Other items relate to

the amortisation of customer relationship and

order book intangible assets. The exceptional and

other items are summarised below:

Operating performance by Business Unit 

2.7 WYG Engineering

WYG Engineering, consisting of consultancy 

services in buildings and infrastructure, rail, 

highways and the specialist structural engineering

firm of Adams Kara Taylor (AKT) is a service

provider in the fields of civil and structural;

mechanical and electrical; flood and drainage;

highways and utility design. These services deliv-

er design solutions for new, revamped or upgrad-

ed buildings, developments, infrastructure and

other facilities, such as energy generation or

recycling facilities.

Over the year ended 30 June, 2010, gross 

revenue decreased by 30% to £53.2m (2009:

£76.2m), net revenue decreased by 30% to

£48.4m (2009: £69.3m) and operating profit

before exceptional and other items reduced by

1100

2009
£’000
8,968

20,602

20,547

5,650
3,440

77,184

-
-

2,013
374

138,778

2,230
141,008

2010
£’000
4,705
3,457

7,291 

-
-

6,920

7,963
(14,854)

259
6,524

22,265

1,574
23,839

TABLE 1

Employee termination costs
Office closure costs
Work in progress and 
trade receivables provisions
Professional indemnity 
claim provisions
Professional fees
Impairment of goodwill
Impairment of management
information system
Gain on debt restructuring
Other restructuring costs
Transaction fees
Exceptional items
Amortisation of acquired 
intangible assets
Exceptional and other items
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31% to £1.4m (2009: £2.1m).  Operating margin on

net revenue remained unchanged at 3%.

Against this backdrop, the management team has

acted in restructuring the business. Greater emphasis

has been placed on reducing debtors and aged

debtor levels and in making efficiency improvements

to our working practices.

We continue to work on many high profile projects, a

number of which have won prestigious awards,

including:  

� The UK Pavilion at the World Expo 2010 in

� Shanghai by Heatherwick Studio and AKT won

� the Royal Institute of British Architects’ (RIBA) 

� prestigious RIBA Lubetkin Prize for the most 

� outstanding work of international architecture

� Institution of Civil Engineers (ICE) Award 2010 

� for Sheffield storm damage sites scheme

� The RIBA Awards 2010 for Newcastle City Library,

� Great North Museum and Teesside Infinity Bridge

� projects and 

� The Institution of Structural Engineers National 

� Award 2009 for Manchester’s City Tower and 

� Piccadilly Plaza projects

2.8 WYG Environment 
Planning Transport (EPT)

Our environmental, planning and transport planning

activities are largely focused on serving the early 

permission stages of site or project development (in

contrast to the subsequent construction stages) and

we provide a broad range of services to this market.

Our business has a mix of clients, encompassing all

the sectors that typically are involved in seeking to

extend or change the use of land – including 

commercial and residential real estate developers,

energy producers, manufacturers, retailers, public

sector landlords, such as local, police and health

authorities, and major central governmental 

‘During the year, we
remained active in the
social and affordable
housing market as
many stock transfer
and Residential Social
Landlord projects have
been unaffected by the
property market 
downturn. We have in
fact seen growth in this
sector and won 
important new clients 
in London.’

Transforming the economic future 

of England’s north west

We are leading on the UK’s largest planning

application, named Liverpool Waters. It is a

redevelopment of part of Liverpool Docks

comprising over 14 million square feet of

mixed use floor space on 150 acres.

Involving an investment of £5.5billion,

Liverpool Waters proposes the regeneration

of former and currently disused dockland in

North Liverpool to create a city central

world-class, high-quality and mixed use

waterfront quarter. It is predicted to be part

of a transformation of

the economic 

fortunes of the

north west of

England, 

creating

tens of

thousands

of jobs over

thirty years.
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departments, such as Defence Estates and Her

Majesty’s Courts Service.

Over the year ended 30 June 2010, gross revenue

decreased by 15% to £45.5m (2009: £53.8m), net

revenue decreased by 17% to £37.8m (2009:

£45.6m) and operating profit before exceptional and

other items reduced by 48% to £3.3m (2009:

£6.3m).  Operating margin on net revenue fell to 9%

(2009: 14%) largely as a result of low utilisation in

those disciplines that experienced reduced levels of

work.  

Nevertheless, despite a challenging economy, EPT’s

consultants have contributed to some of the most

significant schemes and developments within our

industry sectors over the last year, illustrating the

depth of expertise and experience within our busi-

ness.  

2.9 WYG Management 
Services

Our Management Services business is the proj-

ect management, property management,

cost consultancy and safety management 

discipline of the Group.  We experienced 

challenging trading during the period with

the extended recessionary period affecting

most of our sectors.  We took action to align

our cost base and this included reducing our

headcount and property portfolio to reflect the

anticipated reduction in revenue in our domestic

markets. 

Over the year ended 30 June 2010, gross revenue

decreased by 13% to £24.9m (2009: £28.5m), net

revenue decreased by 19% to £19.7m (2009:

£24.3m) and operating profit before exceptional

and other items reduced by 60% to £1.3m

(2009: £3.2m).  Operating margin on net

revenue fell to 7% (2009: 13%) largely as

‘To counteract the
downturn in some
of our clients’
domestic activities
we have increased
our overseas 
activities as we look
to build on our
existing presence in
Poland and Turkey.’ 

EPA Groundwater Monitoring

Programme

Our environmental experts were 

successfully re-appointed to the EPA’s

Groundwater Monitoring Programme

for 2010. To meet the requirements of

the Water Framework Directive, the

EPA intends to monitor

approximately 280 

groundwater

quality sites

throughout

Ireland

during

each year

of a 

four-year

framework. 

Swords WWTP

Our Water team was appointed by

Fingal County Council as designers for

the €10m expansion

of Swords

Wastewater

Treatment

Plant.
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a result of low utilisation in those disciplines that

experienced downturns in work.  

During the year, we remained active in the social

and affordable housing market as many stock

transfer and Residential Social Landlord projects

have been unaffected by the property market

downturn.  We have in fact seen growth in this

sector and won important new clients in London

such as Circle Anglia Housing and London

Borough of Barking and Dagenham. 

Also, we reinforced our position as a key supplier

of consultancy services to the UK defence sector

with our appointment by Defence Estates to 

provide professional and technical support 

services for property and construction projects

under a four-year framework. This principal 

support provider contract covers Defence Estates

operations throughout the UK; in addition, we are

receiving instructions to support the Ministry of

Defence in some international locations. 

To counteract the downturn in some of our clients’

domestic activities we have increased our over-

seas activities as we look to build on our existing

presence in Poland and Turkey.  We continue to

invest in and to develop our people and we 

continue to position ourselves for future growth

supporting the diversification into international

territories.  

2.10 WYG Ireland

The Irish economy has been in deep recession

and quarterly GDP growth in the Republic of

Ireland was negative throughout 2009.  The

reduction in construction market activity during

2009/10 has severely affected the financial 

performance of WYG Ireland.  

Over the year, gross revenue decreased by 37%

to £31.7m (2009: £50.3m), net revenue

decreased by 38% to £26.6m (2009: £43.1m) and

operating profit before exceptional and other

items reduced by 106% to a loss of £0.2m (2009:

£3.8m profit).  Operating margin on net revenue

fell to -1% (2009: 9%).

Although we see trading in Ireland being 

challenging for the next few years, we have 

completed a substantial restructuring programme

and believe the business is correctly sized for the

current order book.

We have seen an overall decline in our turnover

and profit however some parts of the business

delivered strong performances during the year,

notably our mechanical, electrical and 

management services teams. Significant project

wins include the Public-Private Partnerships

Schools Bundle 2 which reached financial close in

June 2010.  We provided civil/structural and

mechanical/electrical engineering services for four

schools with total capital value of €33m.  

Additional project wins include the appointment of

our water services team by Fingal County Council

as designers for the €10m expansion of Swords

Wastewater Treatment Plant.  Further 

opportunities are anticipated as part of the Water

Investment Programme across the Republic of

Ireland.  We were also pleased by the 

re-appointment of our environmental team, to the

Groundwater Monitoring Programme for 2010.

The project, awarded by the Environmental

Protection Agency aims to satisfy Ireland’s 

obligations in respect of the monitoring 

requirements of the Water Framework Directive

for groundwater. 

2.11 WYG International

WYG International provides programme 

management, policy advice and technical 
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consulting services across the built, natural and

social environment in Eastern Europe, the Middle

East, Africa, and Asia.  We have continued to

demonstrate strong growth and in the year 

generated 30% of the gross revenue of the

Group (2009: 20%).  International was 

significantly ahead of budget for operating profit

and cash generation.

Over the year, gross revenue increased by 24%

to £65.4m (2009: £52.8m, with growth of 15%

delivered in 2009), net revenue increased by

90% to £60.3m (2009: £31.7m) and operating

profit before exceptional and other items reduced

by 14% to £1.3m (2009: £1.6m). With increased

bond costs, operating margin on net revenue also

reduced to 2% (2009: 5%), reflecting the 

structural changes made in the previous year. Net

of investments in our new regions, operating

margin in our core regions held up at 5%.  Our

international order book is strong and now stands

at £75.5m.  In addition we have a further £146m

of value in proposals and pre-qualifications

already submitted which demonstrates strong

underlying demand in our core international mar-

kets.

Central and Eastern Europe: Central and

Eastern Europe continued to play an important

role in our international portfolio.  We maintained

our “top three” market position in Poland where

we delivered one of our strongest performances

to date, recording revenues of £20.2m (€24.5m).

During the last 12 months, the key emphasis has

been on the quality of delivery of services.

Flagship projects included the design of sections

of the S-7 highway in Poland, technical assistance

for meeting Schengen requirements in Bulgaria

and support for the reform of public 

administration and the improvement of public

policy formulation in Romania.

Balkans: In Turkey, we maintained our clear

leadership position in the European Commission

(EC) market.  We secured three new contracts

with an aggregate estimated project value of

£7m (€8m). Turkey and northern Cyprus is a core

market in the region with Turkey being the single

largest beneficiary under the EU Instrument for

Pre Accession Assistance (IPA). 

The Western Balkans remains a core market with

the region receiving extensive allocations of EU

financial support.  Building upon the success of

the existing £12.5m (€15.1m) project of work in

the EC funded Infrastructure Projects Facility, we

have secured a major extension of the existing 

contract in both time and value to give for this

first phase of the programme an estimated total

project value of £25m (€30.2m) through to 2014.

In addition, as part of an international 

consortium, we were also awarded the contract

for the £12.4m (€15m), second phase of the 

programme to restore and upgrade transport,

environment and energy infrastructures across

the Western Balkans.  This contract extension

and further contract award confirmed our 

leadership position in this market.

Further contract awards include two projects in

Croatia to support the national education system

(£2.6m/€3.1m); two projects in Kosovo to 

support rural development and the social welfare 

system (£2.1m/€2.6m) as well as education for

social inclusion in Serbia (£1.5m/€1.8m) and sup-

port to the export sector in Bosnia and

Herzegovina (£1.1m/€1.3m).

Commonwealth of Independent States 

(Former Soviet Union): The Commonwealth of

Independent States (CIS) is another core busi-

ness region for us and the period saw the suc-

cessful implementation and management of many
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current projects including, two EC projects in Ukraine

valued at c£4.1m (€5m) each covering assistance

with preparations for accession to the World Trade

Organisation (WTO) and reform of the judiciary.

Diversification away from the EC continues with a

contract award from the European Bank of

Reconstruction and Development (EBRD) in

Tajikistan, and the appointment to a second 

framework contract on climate change with the

Asian Development Bank (ADB). 

Middle East and Africa: Performance in the

Middle East and Africa (MEA) exceeded budget

expectations with a total turnover of £10.8m

(€12.3m) for the year.  

Market conditions varied throughout the region with

a marked increase in opportunities in the Middle

East, which we targeted and exploited with two

recent wins in Syria in June 2010 totalling £9.0m

(€10.9m).  In Central Africa, tender opportunities

have been low with a much slower than expected roll

out of the EDF 10 programme.  The setting up of

WYG South Africa legal entity was commenced 

during the year with the establishment of our 

regional headquarters in Pretoria supported by 

project offices in Durban and East London.

Gulf: In the Gulf, despite tough market conditions,

we have made carefully targeted investments which

have enabled us to contribute to a number of the

region’s most exciting, ambitious and challenging

projects.  These consist of several high profile 

government and private sector schemes, including

the provision of services on Masdar, a district cooling

plant for a major hospitality and mixed-use 

development, technical design reviews, and major

cultural and heritage projects.

‘In the Gulf, despite
tough market 
conditions, we have
made carefully targeted
investments which have
enabled us to 
contribute to a number
of the region’s most
exciting, ambitious and
challenging projects.’

Restoring and upgrading infrastructure

across the Western Balkans

Building on the existing and subsequently

extended contract with an estimated total

project value of £25m (€30.2m) in the

Western Balkans, funded by the European

Commission, we have won the second phase

of the programme which represents our

largest ever programme of work. The four-

year, £12.4m (€15m) project will see our

consultants restore and upgrade transport,

environment and 

energy 

infrastructures

across the

Western

Balkans.
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2.12 Key Performance 
Indicators 

Measuring performance, identifying suitable key per-

formance indicators (“KPIs”) and benchmarking are

an inherent part of our culture and ethos.  The KPIs

for which performance measures have been estab-

lished are as follows:

Technical Excellence

KPIs are set to measure profile in the technical press

and to improve the technical quality of solutions and

services provided to our clients.

Financial Performance

KPIs are collected to measure profitability, cash gen-

eration and working capital, and include productivi-

ty statistics, order intake, EBITA and working capi-

tal ratios.

Client Satisfaction

KPIs are set to measure and help improve the rela-

tionships and quality of services we provide to

clients.

Employee Satisfaction

KPIs include employee turnover as a measure of

employee engagement.

Leadership

KPIs measure the performance of our Directors and

managers to guide, direct and influence people based

on a competency framework set in the context of

business planning objectives.

Innovation

KPIs are agreed to measure our client satisfaction

relative to the delivery of innovative solutions.

Making sustainable energy 

a reality in Cumbria, England

Energy from Waste Plants use a process

where energy is derived from burning waste

and can be supplied to local industry. These

highly efficient plants are strongly recom-

mended by current government. Our 

specialist consultants are providing a range

of engineering expertise to waste 

management company, Shanks, to help 

create a mechanical biological

treatment (MBT) 

facility in Barrow

which will treat

up to 75,000

tonnes per

annum of

domestic

waste.
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2.13 People

Our global network of employees operates in over

40 countries and works on some of the world’s

most challenging projects. 

During the year we have restructured our

resourcing model better to align with global client

demand.  We continued to expand internationally

both by recruiting in local geographies and also

by generating secondment opportunities where

we have won projects in locations including Abu

Dhabi, Syria, Georgia and Croatia to support the

increasing workload.

Moving to a global Capability based structure

makes us more flexible, enabling us to work 

collaboratively in delivering our services and 

solutions to our clients all over the world. 

This reorganisation has set the scene for 

expanding our cross-team ethos to promote 

delivery of professional, technical and 

management solutions for our clients and the

communities that we serve through more flexible

deployment of our talented, multi-cultural

resource pools.  Continuing in this vein our 

professional support functions have also 

responded by re-shaping themselves into a more

efficient “Group Business Services” shared service

environment in order to support our client facing

teams globally.

We are committed to retain, engage and develop

our people and this continues to drive our global

Human Resources strategy.  Our Learning

Academy is now in its third year and provides a

‘one stop shop’ for all learning and development

information, systems, processes and solutions for

our people.  We have further developed our 

e-learning provision to support the development

of people across the globe.  

Once again in the year we ran our corporate

development programmes including the WYG

Development, Managers’ Essentials and Strategic

Leadership Development Programmes which were

attended by employees from various global 

locations.  We also continued to focus investment

on key talent across the business to assist the

management of a succession pipeline of WYG

Partners to support our global business model in

the future.  

We have maintained our accredited learning and

development agreements with the following 

professional bodies: the Institution of Civil

Engineers, Chartered Institution of Building

Services Engineers, Institution of Engineers’

Ireland, Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors

and Chartered Institution of Water and

Environmental Management.  We are also the

recognised learning partner of the Royal Town

Planning Institute and continue working towards

accreditation with many other bodies and 

institutions.

Whilst the year proved to be challenging in some

parts of our domestic markets, where colleagues

have been affected unavoidably by the economic

climate and changing client needs, we have

worked to alleviate the impact wherever possible.

We have endeavoured to redeploy some of our

people into vacancies across other parts of the

Group and where this has not been possible we

have provided professional career transition

coaching. In some areas where it was 

commercially feasible to do so we have been able
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to save jobs by accommodating increased flexible

working and part time working practices and

operating recruitment restrictions. At the end of

June 2010 we were able to restore reduced basic

salaries to their norm for those that had agreed

to a voluntary reduction during 2009. 

During the last twelve months, the commitment

and dedication of our people has been evident

and we would like to take this opportunity to

thank them for their continued support.

2.14 Financial Review

Revenue

The value of work earned in the financial year

decreased by 16% to £220.6m (2009: £261.6m).

Margins

The margin performance of the businesses can

be measured by reference to either gross 

revenue, which includes revenue attributable to

third parties on which we do not make a margin,

or net revenue which excludes such revenue.  We

have focused on margin assessment by reference

to net revenue. The margin is calculated before

exceptional charges. The relevant statistics are as

follows (Table 2):

Operating Profit

Operating profit before the amortisation of

acquired intangibles and before exceptional items,

decreased by 58% to £7.2m (2009: £17.0m).

Operating loss was £10.2m (2009: £123.7m loss).

Exceptional and Other Items

The Group recorded a net charge for exceptional

and other items of £23.8m (2009: £141m)

The Board has implemented measures to reduce

headcount in the financial year by around 600,

which has resulted in annualised cost savings in

excess of £20m after redundancy costs of £4.7m.

These headcount reductions have been across

the entire Group, but concentrated in the

Engineering and Irish business units.

We have announced a number of office closures

in the Republic of Ireland.  A provision of £3.5m

has been made as an exceptional cost in respect

of vacant leasehold charges primarily made up of

rent, rates and service charges payable by the

Group over the remaining lease terms on vacated

properties. We are actively seeking to sub-let

these properties 

We have recorded an exceptional provision of

£7.3m in respect of work in progress and trade

receivables in the Ireland Business Unit as this

part of the business was restructured.  Where

appropriate, efforts will be made to recover as

much of these balances as possible. 

We have reviewed the value of the goodwill 

arising upon past acquisitions carried on its 

balance sheets.  Following this review, we have

reduced the value of goodwill carried on the 

balance sheet in respect of the entire Ireland

business unit by a total of £6.9m following further

2009
3%

11%

12%
7%
3%

6%

2010
3%
5%

7%
-1%
2%

3%

Engineering
Management Services
Environment, Planning 
Transport
Ireland
International

Total Group

Margin on 
gross revenue

Margin on 
net revenue

2009
3%

13%

14%
9%
5%

8%

2010
3%
7%

9%
-1%
2%

4%

TABLE 2
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restructuring in that business. This impairment

charge does not represent a cash cost.

The Board has reviewed the business information

system requirements and during the year took the

difficult decision to mothball the management

information systems upgrade initiative that 

commenced in December 2007.  After a thorough

review it was decided it was no longer proportionate

to the shape and structure of our operation.  Instead

we are developing our information system based on

the current platforms and the Board is confident that

the system can be significantly enhanced at a 

reasonably modest cost and relatively low 

implementation risk.  This resulted in an exceptional

write down of new system costs of £8.0m. 

The Group has incurred transaction costs of £6.5m

in connection with the refinancing.  These costs have

been expensed in the year.

The Group has recognised an exceptional gain of

£14.9m in the year ending 30 June 2010, 

representing the difference between the 

carrying value of £52.9m of the borrowings

converted and the fair value of £38.0m of the

ordinary and preference shares issued to the

lenders at the date of the debt for equity

swap.

There will be further exceptional costs in the

period ending 31 March 2011 in respect of ongoing

restructuring.

Finance Costs

Finance costs (before exceptional items) in the

Consolidated Income Statement reflect the cost of

borrowing, financing items relative to the defined

benefit pension schemes and the fair value of losses

on interest rate swaps.

Engineering Europe’s tallest 

residential building

Vauxhall Tower is the final phase of

the riverside community of St George

Wharf in London. The site illustrates

how the design has addressed the

many challenges that faces major

developments in London, particularly

when building tall. The tower will 

pioneer environmental sustainability.

The design minimises energy use by

requiring as little heating, cooling and

lighting as possible and then provides

much of the energy required from 

natural sources – wind and water. Our

engineering experts provided design

support to the project team for the

whole residential development, which

will be Europe’s

tallest residential

building.
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The cost of borrowing has decreased to £4.0m

(2009: £4.9m).  This decrease is a reflection of the

increase in the cost of borrowing during the financial

year that was more than offset by the reduction in

net debt. Under the terms of the refinancing the

margin on the banking facilities has been increased

to between 2.5% and 10.0% above LIBOR. This

increased margin took effect from 8 January 2010.

Prior to that date the headline cost of our borrowing

was 3.0% above LIBOR / EURIBOR.  Finance costs

were covered 1.4 times (2009: 3.5 times) by 

operating profit before exceptional and other items.

Finance costs of the defined benefit pension

schemes have stayed the same at £0.4m (2009:

£0.4m).

Finance costs associated with fair value losses on

interest rate swaps were £0.8m (2009:nil)

Taxation

The corporation tax credit in the year on the profit

before exceptional and other items is £1.1m (2009:

charge of £2.9m). The tax credit on the loss before

tax is £1.1m (2009: £0.6m credit).

Shareholders’ Equity

Shareholders’ equity increased by £17.8m in the year

to £1.1m (2009: £137.1m decrease). The increase

comprised the following elements: (Table 3):

The share price on 30 June 2010 was 37.5p 

having started the financial year at 232p.

(After adjusting for the share consolidation

which occurred in January 2010).

Planning one of the world’s

largest data centres

On behalf of Lockerbie Data Centres Ltd,

our planning experts have helped to get

planning permission for the creation of one

of the world’s largest data centre. The

£950m development at Peelhouses Farm in

Dumfries and Galloway, Scotland will attract

more than £3.5b in inward investment and

create hundreds of jobs both during and

post construction. We are retained by the

developer as lead consultants

and masterplanners for

the project. 

TABLE 3

Loss attributable to equity shareholders 
Actuarial loss on pension schemes
New shares issued
Share based payments
Exchange difference
Tax on items taken directly to equity
Increase in Shareholders’ equity

£m
(20.7)
(0.2)
38.0
0.3
0.3
0.1

17.8
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Cash Flow and Movement in Net Debt

Key points to note with regard to cash flow are

as follows:

Cash flow from operations increased significantly

in the year as a result of a decrease in the 

operating cash flows offset by considerable

improvements in working capital.

The value reflected for consideration on 

businesses purchased represents deferred 

consideration paid on a prior year acquisition. 

Other items represent currency exchange 

differences and the debt for equity swap.

Capital expenditure in the year decreased to

£4.3m (2009: £7.4m) The major area of 

expenditure related to the management 

information system that was subsequently 

mothballed.  

Pension Schemes

We have two defined benefit pension schemes

which have been closed to new members for a

number of years.  We contributed £0.6m (2009:

£0.6m) into these schemes during the year.  The

WYD Scheme received a contribution of £0.6m

and has seen its closing net liability decrease to

£2.1m (2009: £2.3m).  The 1986 Scheme

received a payment of £nil (2009: £nil) and is in

the process of being wound up.

Treasury Operations 

Our policy on treasury and financial risk is set by

the Board and reviewed on a regular basis.  The

treasury risk faced by the Group includes interest

rate risk, credit risk and foreign exchange risk.

It is our policy that we do not speculate in 

financial instruments or enter into speculative 

transactions. The types of financial instruments

used by us include internal cash resources,

borrowings, advance payment bonds, interest

rate swaps and debtor and creditor balances 

arising directly from Group operations.

Our policy on interest rate risk is to minimise

interest cost while at the same time reducing

exposure, where possible, to interest rate 

fluctuation.

A proportion of our assets are funded using fixed

rate finance lease contracts.  Our car fleet is

financed on a contract hire basis. At 30 June

2010 outstanding liabilities in respect of such

contracts totalled £0.6m (2009: £1.3m).

At 30 June 2010 we had six interest rate swaps,

three covering Sterling borrowings of £16.25m

and three covering Euro borrowings of €10.0m.

As a result the proportion of borrowings covered

by fixed or capped interest rates totals 50%

(2009: 44%).  

At 30 June 2010, the Group had undrawn com-

mitted borrowing facilities from its debt providers

of £8m (2009: £13.5m) under its banking facili-

ties. 

Cash flow from operations
Interest and tax
Net capital expenditure
Free cash flow
Consideration on business purchased
Dividends
Other
Movement in net debt
Opening net debt
Closing net debt

2010
£m
9.5

(7.1)
(4.3)
(2.0)
(0.4)

-
53.9
51.5

(85.3)
(33.8)

2211

2009
£m

12.5
(5.7)
(7.4)
(0.6)
(8.0)
(3.3)
(5.2)

(17.1)
(68.2)
(85.3)
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The majority of revenue and expenditure from

operations is denominated in the same currency

giving an effective hedge to relevant transactions.

A proportion of our net assets are denominated in

Euros. 

2.15 Risk Management 

The key risk areas potentially impacting on the

business are as follows:                       

Strength of Key Markets

As identified last year, we continue to be well

positioned to benefit from the provision of white

collar consulting and infrastructure services to the

public and private sectors in the UK and 

overseas.

A continuation of the downturn in a number of

key markets at the same time could have a 

materially adverse impact on the business. This

has been particularly emphasised by uncertainty

of UK public spending linked to budget cuts.

We mitigate this risk by building up and maintain-

ing a diverse sector penetration and by avoiding

any disproportionate client, skill or sector depend-

ence. We now have valuable experience from our

recent restructuring in response to deteriorating

market conditions.

Competition

We believe that we are well positioned in our

chosen markets.  We recognised, however, that

we operate in a competitive environment and

therefore the actions of current or potential com-

petitors could adversely impact our business.  We

mitigate this risk by continually seeking to

improve our competitive position.  The prime

focus of the “WYG Partner” network is to ensure

our staff are committed to the highest standards

of business excellence, which is underpinned by

our new Commercial Development & Operations

Process (CDOP) processes and procedures, imple-

menting wider-ranging client care policies, main-

taining systems for the structured review and

approval of commercial and financial proposals on

all major projects.

Key Personnel

Our future success is dependent on the continued

services of key people.  There have been signifi-

cant staff movements during the year, and a risk

exists that the loss of Executive Directors and

other key employees could have an adverse

impact on the business. We therefore, continue to

focus on employee development and training

through a process of annual appraisals and

reviews.  We encourage a positive working envi-

ronment through diversity and dignity policies

and through appropriate investment in infrastruc-

ture, resources and community engagement.    

Arrangements have been put in place during the

year to encourage employees to share in the suc-

cess of the business through the new share own-

ership schemes and suitably incentivised con-

tracts for key personnel.  

Litigation

In the environment in which we operate, there is

the risk of claims for alleged professional negli-

gence relative to the service provided.  This risk

continues to be mitigated by ‘Partners’ within the

business ensuring there are robust internal review

procedures in place to respond quickly to any

such claims in order to limit the exposure of the

Company.  There have been clear improvements

as a result of this mitigation plan over the last 12

months.
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Fluctuations in Foreign Currency

We gain a significant proportion of its revenues from

overseas and therefore has an exposure to foreign

currency fluctuations, most notably the Euro.

However, the general risk mitigation continues to be

that the majority of revenue and expenditure from

international operations are denominated in the same

currency.

Other Risks

The risks surrounding our financing arrangements 

are covered in the notes to the accounts, along with

any significant judgements and key sources of 

estimations.

Paul Hamer
Chief Executive Officer
01 November 2010

David Wilton
Group Finance Director
01 November 2010
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Paul Hamer 

Chief Executive Officer  (41)

Paul Hamer joined WYG in July 2008 as Chief

Operating Officer and was promoted to Chief Executive

Officer in March 2009.  He was Managing Director of

VT Nuclear Services, part of the VT Group Plc, and

brings with him over 20 years’ experience in business

management, leadership and project delivery.  He has

also held several senior executive positions in the 

contracting, nuclear, oil, chemical and petrochemical

sectors.

Graham Olver 

Group Commercial Director (49)

Graham Olver joined the Board in August 2009 as

Group Services Director and Company Secretary.

Previously he was Commercial and Operations Director

with Skanska Infrastructure Development, a division of

Skanska AB. He has over 20 years' international 

business and project experience and has held senior

commercial and legal positions at Thames Water,

Thames Water International and ALSTOM

Robert Barr 

Senior Independent Non Executive Director (54)

Robert Barr was appointed to the Board on 1 January

2007. Since June 2004 he has been Group Chief

Executive of Arran Isle Ltd (previously Heywood

Williams Group plc), prior to which he was Chief

Operating Officer of Kingspan Group plc.  Previously,

Robert was Managing Director (Europe) and a main

board director of Bespak plc having spent his early

career in various international management roles at

Diageo plc.

David Jeffcoat 

Non Executive Director and Audit & Risk

Committee Chairman (60)

David Jeffcoat was appointed to the Board in December

2009.  He is a qualified accountant with extensive 

experience in the engineering and technology sectors.

He was Group Finance Director and Company Secretary

of FTSE 250 manufacturing group Ultra Electronics

Holdings plc from 2000 until his retirement in April 2009.

Prior to that, he served as Group Financial Controller

with Smiths Industries plc (now Smiths Group).  He also

sits on the Board of Aberforth Smaller Companies Trust

plc and is a trustee of the Marine Society & Sea Cadets.
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David Wilton 

Group Finance Director (48)

David Wilton joined WYG in February 2009 as Group

Finance Director.  He was Group Finance Director of

Adler and Allan Holdings Limited, a private equity

backed oil and environmental services group.  David

has over 25 years’ experience in financial management

and business leadership and was a director in the

investment banking division of NM Rothschild. He is a

chartered accountant and spent the early part of his

career at PricewaterhouseCoopers.

Mike McTighe 

Non Executive Chairman (57)

Mike McTighe was appointed to the Board in August

2009.  He is currently Chairman of Pace plc and Volex

Group plc, a member of the Board of Ofcom and

Chairman of a number of private companies.

Previously he was Chairman and CEO of Carrier I

International S.A. and before that Executive Director

and Chief Executive, Global Operations of Cable &

Wireless plc.   
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4. Corporate Responsibility 

Our Corporate Responsibility CR Vision

We take corporate responsibility seriously.  It is 

integral to the way we do business and our results in

this area are improving but we recognise that we still

have further work to do.

We are committed to ensuring that all our people

operate in a responsible and sustainable manner.

Looking after our people, clients, suppliers and 

communities where we operate as well as the 

environment are all essential components of our 

culture.  We expect all our people to go about their

day-to-day business life professionally whether that is

in client offices, travelling, on site or in any WYG

offices.  

Being a global company, our people are expected

to be aware and take due consideration of all 

cultures and ensure they comply with the 

country laws and regulations where they operate.

Our people are also expected to carry out their

professional duties in accordance with our high

standards and policies.

Putting our CR Vision into Practice

In the year we have been working on re-shaping our

CR programmes as well as achieving the objectives

we had set for this period.  We have restated our

corporate governance and policies, revitalised our CR

Committee and overhauled our CR roadmap.  Our

vision will help us to integrate CR in all of our 

working practices. 

Health & Safety

We are committed to high standards of safety, health

and welfare for employees and others who may be

Planning England’s tallest bridge

Our planning and design experts gained

planning permission, on behalf of

Sunderland City Council, for a new landmark

highway bridge across Sunderland’s River

Wear in North East England. The bridge will

improve connectivity and accessibility within

central Sunderland and reduce congestion,

while facilitating the regeneration of key

development sites in the city. Our 

consultants coordinated several major public

consultation exercises across the region,

gaining strong support for

such an aspirational

infrastructure

project.

Construction

will start in

2012 and

completes

in 2015.
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affected by our activities. Health and safety

arrangements for our UK and Ireland operations

have been certified to OHSAS 18001 since 2004.  

The health and safety arrangements were 

integrated into the quality and environmental

management system in 2007 and they are now

part of our established SHEQ (safety, health,

environment and quality) management system.  

Our achievements this year include, appointing a

Group Health & Safety Director, improved our

accident and incident reporting processes, and  a

full review is now underway to identify further

efficient and cost effective methods of controlling

and delivering legal compliance for all offices.

Our new set of objectives include:

� Improving competence standards via the roll 

� out of a WYG Health & Safety Passport

� Ensuring legal compliance by completing 

� appropriate risk assessments and

� Ensuring compliance with good practice by

� reviewing and updating our initial climate 

� change risk assessments in parallel with legal

� compliance monitoring

Accident & Enforcement Record

Community Engagement

Our community engagement policy allows three

days’ paid leave for employees undertaking 

community engagement initiatives.  It remains in

place despite the difficult economic backdrop but,

unsurprisingly, we have seen a reduced level of

activities.  

In the past year we have we have reviewed our

community engagement policy and processes to

adapt them to the new structure of the business

and to ascertain where to re-direct our focus for

the coming year.  For example, through the 

annual appraisal process we have added 

appraiser guidelines to encourage the use of

community engagement activities linked to 

continued professional and personal development

of our employees.  We have also presented a

business case to our stakeholders for reinvigorat-

ing our community engagement activities and

concentrating our efforts on those initiatives that

add more value to the communities we work

within.

Our community engagement highlights for 2010

include many office-based initiatives to support

local, national and international charity 

campaigns. Our expert consultants have also 

visited schools and colleges that are local to our 

2005/6

1

0
~2500

0.02

RIDDOR reportable accidents 
in the UK
Reportable accidents 
in the Republic of Ireland
Average number of employees
Accident Frequency Rate (AFR)

2006/7

6

0
~2700

0.13

2007/8

3

0
~3000

0.08

2008/9

2

0
~2700

0.04

2009/10 

2

0
~2000

0.06

AFR = Total number of reportable injuries x 100,000
Man hours worked
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offices to share their knowledge and expertise

that supports and relates to the education 

curriculum.  

Our new commitments include: 

� Identifying key social issues most relevant to

� our stakeholders and communities. We are

� keen to gain a clearer picture of the different

� groups in the community we could support

� more actively

� Concentrating our efforts into one bold 

� objective that will demonstrate our 

� commitment to the set of social issues 

� identified

� Setting up one or more strategic partnerships

� with voluntary or not for profit organisations

� to help deliver the objective

Trading in Sustainable Services 

and Products

We continue to conduct our business ethically

and with integrity to encourage the purchasing of

goods and services from sustainable sources. 

We always aim to meet and exceed our clients’

expectations while ensuring that they are fully

informed of the possibilities for increasing the

sustainability of their operations and projects.

This year we have adopted a standard process

throughout the organisation for selecting suppli-

ers who have considered good practice towards

sustainability. We have also commenced the ratio-

nalisation of office printing equipment to reduce

our materials and energy consumption. 

Our new commitments include:

� Continuing to identify and extend the range

� of products and services that have low 

� minimal impact on the environment

� Preparing our programme of supplier 

� engagement, working with our suppliers to

� collectively reduce our shared supply chain in 

� parts, especially in the areas of travel, 

� transport and office products

� Explore how best to revise our procurement

� systems with the aim of reducing these 

� products and services that do not meet our 

� sustainable procurement objectives

Looking after the Environment

Energy consumption across our business, mainly

electricity and gas, has an impact on carbon

emissions and as a responsible employer and

global service provider to the energy, environ-

mental and sustainability sectors we take this

issue seriously.

Our environmental management system (EMS)

was certified to ISO 14001 in 2006 and since

then we have made changes and improvements

to the system and to our environmental impacts.

We now operate an integrated SHEQ (safety,

health, environment and quality) management

system. 

This last year we have introduced an improved

system for recording, monitoring and reporting

information in relation to the CRC Energy

Efficiency scheme, undertaken a number of

awareness initiatives to reduce energy use in our

offices, rolled out a programme of energy audits

to determine where energy is being used

inefficiently and could be reduced, and we

recently introduced a programme of 

rationalisation of office printing equipment. 
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Our new commitments include:

� Ensuring legal compliance by completing

� improved risk assessments

� Investigating how improved control of heating,

� ventilating and air conditioning (HVAC) systems 

� can be introduced as well as the installation of 

� time control in essential appliances

� Adopting a continuous programme of 

� environmental awareness with the aim of 

� focusing our attention on four different subjects 

� per year

� Ensuring good practice compliance by tighter 

� controls on waste management and 

� procurement

� 

Overall CO2 emissions (Scope 1 and 2)

Our recent energy audits across our UK offices

(using in-house specialists) revealed that we could

make an 'immediate' overall energy saving and 

emissions reduction of 15% on our 2010 baseline by

rationalising heating, lighting and similar systems,

and fitting timers on essential electrical devices

where needed.  

On this basis each UK office will be implementing its

own tailored energy management plan over the next

12-18 months to realise these potential savings.

Following the audits we have also started looking at

ways of refining and improving our monitoring and

data collection processes to improve how we 

measure our carbon performance. 

We plan to implement a similar programme of ener-

gy audits and improved data collection for our offices

in Ireland and internationally from 2011 onwards to

ensure a consistent, Group-wide approach 

demonstrating efficient and effective asset 

management.
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Looking Forward

Following the achievement of last year’s objectives

we are now looking into developing our newly struc-

tured CR programme. This includes the following:

� An examination and gap analysis of our KPI’s 

� and reporting process in relation to the Global 

� Reporting Initiative’s (GRI) recommended 

� framework and KPI Index. The results of this

� exercise will guide the further development and 

� implementation of our CR targets and Action 

� Plans during 2010/11

� An investigation into the options for 

� ‘mainstreaming’ Scope 3 carbon emissions 

� analyses and reporting linked directly to our 

� corporate accounting system. This will build on

� the pilot exercise completed earlier this year. 

� This activity will also inform how we might revise 

� our targets, KPI’s and reporting process

� Further analyses of how we need to manage 

� climate change impacts to reduce potential 

� business risks and optimise business 

� opportunities, both in the UK and for our 

� international operations

5. Directors’ Report

The Directors present their Annual Report and the

audited accounts of the Company and of the 

subsidiary Group for the year ended 30 June 2010.

Principal Activity and Review of Operations

WYG plc is incorporated and domiciled in England.

The address of its registered office is Arndale Court,

Otley Road, Headingley, Leeds, LS6 2UJ.

The principal activity of the Group in the period

under review was that of consultant to the built, 

natural and social environment. The Group’s revenue
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derives from activities in Great Britain, Ireland

(including Northern Ireland and overseas).  

As required by the Companies Act 2006, a review

of the Group’s business, together with an indica-

tion of its future prospects and a description of

the principal risks facing the Group, is provided in

the Chairman’s Letter and the Business Review on

pages 6 to 23 and in the five year financial 

summary on page 98.

The terms of the refinancing include a restriction

prohibiting the payment of a dividend while the

facilities remain outstanding and until the 

preference shares are redeemed in full.

There have been no significant events since the

balance sheet date.

Details of the Group’s principal trading 

subsidiaries are listed in Note 14 on page 71.

The Group also has branch offices in Russia and

Abu Dhabi and representative offices in Russia,

Belgium and Serbia.

Share Capital 

During the year the Group agreed terms for a

capital restructuring with its lenders.  The details

of which are included in note 1 in the Notes To

The Accounts.

As at 28 October 2010, the Company had

35,289,886 ordinary shares of 10 pence each in

issue.  The Company’s  ordinary shares are 

traded on AIM, a market operated by the London

Stock Exchange plc.  

The Company also has 27,600,000 A Preference

Shares of £1 each, 2,400,000 B Preference

Shares of £1 each and 52,964,456 Deferred

Shares of 4 pence each in issue.

The rights and obligations attaching to each class

of shares is set out in the Company’s Articles of

Association which are available on our website.  

Movements in the Company’s authorised, allotted

and fully paid share capital are set out in Note 23

to the accounts.

Employee Benefit Trust

During the year, as part of the capital 

restructuring the Company established an

employee Benefit Trust (EBT) to satisfy awards

granted under the Performance Share Plan (PSP)

and the Joint Share Ownership Plan (JSOP).  The

trustees of the EBT are RBC Cees Trustees

Limited which is resident in Jersey.  The trustees

currently hold 4,853,149 ordinary shares,

2,400,000 B preference shares and 1,152,274

deferred shares.  These are classed as treasury

shares.

Directors

The Directors of the Company who served during

the year were as follows:

Mike McTighe – appointed 3 August 2009

Paul Hamer

David Wilton

Graham Olver – appointed 3 August 2009

Robert Barr

David Jeffcoat – appointed 16 December 2009

Brian Duckworth – resigned 3 August 2009

John Richardson – resigned 31 January 2010

The biographical details of those Directors

remaining in office can be found on page 24 

and 25.

Directors’ Election and Rotation

The Company’s Articles of Association require that

any director appointed during the year shall hold

office only until the next AGM and shall then be

eligible for election.  In accordance with this rule,

David Jeffcoat will seek election at the AGM.
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In accordance with the Articles of Association,

Paul Hamer and Graham Olver will retire by 

rotation and, being eligible, will offer themselves

for re-election.

The Directors have not been involved in any 

significant contract between any Group company

and themselves during the year under review or

subsequently.

Directors’ Interests

The beneficial interests of the Directors of the

Company and their families in the ordinary shares

of the Company and their options and/or awards

over shares comprised in the Company’s share

schemes are detailed in the Directors’

Remuneration Report on pages 41 to 43.

Directors’ Indemnities

As permitted by the Companies Act 2006, the

Company has indemnified the Directors in respect

of proceedings which may be brought by third

parties.  Neither the Company’s indemnity nor its

insurance provides cover in the event that a

Director is proved to have acted fraudulently or

dishonestly.

Corporate Governance

The Group’s statement on Corporate Governance

is included in the Corporate Governance report on

pages 36 to 40 of this report.

Significant Shareholdings

At 28 October 2010 the Company had been 

notified of the following interests in 3% or more

of its issued share capital:

Substantial Contracts and Change 

of Control

The Group has in place various contractual

arrangements with customers and suppliers some

of which provide for termination in the event of a

change of control but none of which is considered

to be significant in terms of its potential impact

on the business as a whole.  

The Group also has a syndicated banking facility

in place with its lenders which provides for the

mandatory prepayment of the facilities in the

event of a change of control.  

The rules of the PSP and the JSOP set out the

consequences of a change of control of the

Company on participants’ rights under the plans.

Generally, such rights will vest and become 

exercisable in the event of a change of control.

Research and Development

The Group conducts research to enable it to

develop the best technical solutions for its clients.

The amount charged during the year to 30 June

2010 was £3,357,000 (2009: £5,092,000).

Trade Creditors

The Group’s policy is to settle invoices promptly

according to terms and conditions as far as is

practicable.  As 30 June 2010 the amount due to

trade creditors represented 45 days (2009: 56

days) purchases received from those creditors.

The Company does not have any trade creditors.

Treasury Policy

The Group’s policy on treasury and financial risk

is set by the Board and is subject to regular

Fortis Bank SA NV 7,752,389 22.0
Lloyds TSB Banking Group plc 8,871,776 25.1
Royal Bank of Scotland plc 4,738,165 13.4
Employee Benefit Trusts 4,853,149 13.7

Number of
shares held

Percentage of 
issued share capital
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reporting and review.  The main risks faced by the

Group relate to foreign currency risk, credit risk, and

cash flow and interest rate risk.  A more detailed

explanation of these risks and the Group’s policy for

managing them is set out on page 18 and in Note 22

to the Accounts.

Employment Policies

Our policy is to ensure the adequate provision for the

health, safety and welfare of our employees and of

other people who may be affected by our activities.

Employment of Disabled Persons

We treat applications for employment from disabled

persons equally with those of other applicants having

regard to their ability, experience and the 

requirements of the job.  Where existing employees

become disabled every effort is made to provide

them with continuing suitable work within the Group.

Employee Involvement

Our success depends upon the skill and motivation of

our workforce and it is our policy that employees are

kept informed of matters affecting their employment

and of our financial results on a regular basis.  

There were a significant number of employee 

communications during the year in relation to 

redundancies within the Group and there have been

a number of collective redundancy consultations.

Where required appropriate employee representatives

have been elected and the consultation has been in

line with applicable legislation. 

All staff emails are circulated to inform employees

about any significant events and contract wins across

the Group and a comprehensive employee intranet is

kept up to date.
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Charitable and Political Donations

The Group made charitable donations amounting to

£9,000 (2009: £38,000) during the year. No political

donations were made in either year.

Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities

In accordance with Rule 4.1.12 of the Disclosure and

Transparency Rules, the following responsibility 

statement is given by each of the Directors: namely

Mike McTighe, Non Executive Chairman; Paul Hamer,

Chief Executive Officer; David Wilton, Group Finance

Director; Graham Olver, Group Commercial Director

and Company Secretary; Robert Barr, Senior

Independent Non Executive Director and David

Jeffcoat, Non Executive Director and Chairman of the

Audit & Risk Committee.  

The Directors are responsible for preparing the

Annual Report, the Directors’ Remuneration Report

and the accounts in accordance with applicable law

and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare

accounts for each financial year. Under that law the

Directors have prepared the Group’s and Parent

Company accounts in accordance with International

Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as adopted by

the European Union. Under Company law the

Directors must not approve the accounts unless they

are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the

state of the Company’ affairs and of the profit or loss

for that period.

In preparing those accounts, the Directors are

required to:

� Select suitable accounting policies and then apply

� them consistently

� Make judgements and estimates that are 

� reasonable and prudent

� State whether applicable IFRSs as adopted by 

‘The Group made
charitable donations
amounting to
£9,000 during the
year.’
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� the European Union have been followed, 

� subject to any material departures disclosed 

� and explained in the accounts and

� Prepare the accounts on the going concern

� basis, unless it is inappropriate to presume 

� that the Group will continue in business 

The Directors are responsible for keeping 

adequate accounting records that are sufficient to

disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the

financial position of the Company and the Group

and to enable them to ensure that the accounts

and the Directors’ Remuneration Report comply

with the Companies Act 2006.  They are also

responsible for safeguarding the Company and

the Group assets and hence for taking reasonable

steps for the prevention and detection of fraud

and other irregularities.

Each of the Directors, whose names and functions

are listed above, confirm that to the best of their

knowledge, the Group financial statements, which

have been prepared in accordance with IFRS as

adopted by the European Union, give a true and

fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position

and profit of the Group; and the Directors’ Report

includes a fair review of the development and

performance of the business and the position of

the Group, together with a description of the 

principal risks and uncertainties that it faces.

The Annual Report and Accounts will be published

on the WYG website: www.wyg.com.  The 

maintenance and integrity of the website is the

responsibility of the Directors.  The work carried

out by the auditors does not include consideration

of these matters.  Legislation in the UK governing

the preparation and dissemination of accounts

may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

Going Concern

As set out more fully in note 1 of the accounts

the Directors have formed the conclusion that the

Company and the Group have adequate resources

to continue to operate for the foreseeable future.

The accounts have therefore been prepared on

the going concern basis. 

Statement on Disclosure of Information 

to the Independent Auditors

So far as each Director is aware, there is no 

relevant audit information of which the Company’s

auditors are unaware.

Each Director has taken all reasonable steps to

make himself aware of any relevant audit 

information and to establish that the Company’s

auditors are aware of that information.

Independent Auditors

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP has expressed its

willingness to be re-appointed.  A resolution to 

re-appoint them as independent auditors will be

proposed at the AGM.

By order of the Board

Graham Olver
Secretary
01 November 2010
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6. Corporate Governance

Compliance with UK Corporate Governance Code

WYG is committed to high standards of corporate

governance throughout the Group.

As a company whose shares are traded on AIM,

WYG is not required to comply with all the

requirements of the UK Corporate Governance

Code published by the Financial Reporting Council

in June 2010 (‘Code’).  However, the Board 

continues to implement policies and procedures

designed to comply with the Code so far as 

reasonably practicable and appropriate for a 

public company of its size and complexity and in

the light of risks and challenges it faces. 

The Board is accountable to the Company’s

shareholders for good corporate governance and

this report sets out how the principles identified

in the Code have been applied by the Group in

the current financial year.

The Board

The Board currently comprises a Non Executive

Chairman (Mike McTighe), three Executive

Directors (Paul Hamer, Chief Executive Officer,

David Wilton, Group Finance Director and Graham

Olver, Group Commercial Director) and two Non

Executive Directors (Robert Barr and David

Jeffcoat).  The Board considers Mike McTighe,

Robert Barr and David Jeffcoat to be independ-

ent. Robert Barr is the Senior Independent Non

Executive Director.

The roles of Chairman and Chief Executive are

separate and clearly defined in writing. The

Chairman is responsible for the leadership of the

Board and monitoring its effectiveness.  The Chief

Executive is responsible for the executive 

management of the Group’s business. 

All Directors are subject to election by the 

shareholders at the first opportunity after their

initial appointment to the Board and to re-election

thereafter at intervals of not more than three

years.  Biographical details of the Directors are

set out on page 24 and 25.   The Non Executive

Directors bring a balance and range of skills and

experience to the Board and its committees.

None of the Executive Directors has any external

appointments. 

The Board is collectively responsible to 

shareholders for the Group’s overall strategy and

direction within a framework of controls which

enables risk to be assessed and managed.  It has

a schedule of matters reserved to it for decision,

including: matters requiring the consent of the

Company’s major investors and lenders under our

constitution and facilities agreement; decisions on

strategy, policy, approval of budgets, acquisitions

and disposals, major capital expenditure, and risk

assessment and assurance. 

Management provides detailed reports ahead of

each Board and committee meeting to ensure

there is time for the Board to seek any 

clarification of the information provided.

All Directors have access to the advice and 

services of the Company Secretary, who is

responsible for ensuring that Board procedures

and applicable rules and regulations are

observed. There is an agreed procedure for

Directors to take independent professional advice

at the Company’s expense, if necessary, in the

performance of their duties.  Where it is 

considered appropriate, training is made available

to the Directors.  The Company has appropriate

insurance cover in respect of legal action against

its Directors.
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Board Meetings

The Board meets formally on a regular basis.  One

meeting each year is specifically reserved for 

strategic review.  The Board is provided with 

management information which includes detailed

monthly management accounts and an analysis of

the Group’s actual performance against budget and

previous year.  The form and quality of the informa-

tion are reviewed to ensure that it is of a quality

appropriate to enable the Board to discharge its

duties.

The number of Board and Committee meetings

attended by each of the Directors during the year

was as shown right:

Committees of the Board

The Board delegates certain specific responsibilities

to committees. Each committee has clearly defined

terms of reference which are reviewed annually by

the Board. The terms of reference for the Board and

each of its committees are available on the our 

website at www.wyg.com. 

Audit & Risk Committee

The Audit & Risk Committee is chaired by David

Jeffcoat who replaced John Richardson, the previous

Committee Chairman, when he resigned from the

Board on 31 January 2010.  Mr Jeffcoat is a qualified

accountant with extensive experience in the 

engineering and technology sectors.  He held the

position of Group Finance Director and Company

Secretary at his previous company, an international

engineering group quoted on the London Stock

Exchange, until his retirement in April 2009.   He is

considered by the Board to have the necessary

recent and relevant financial experience for his role

as Chairman.  The other members of the Committee

are Non Executive Directors Mike McTighe and Robert

Barr.  

Meetings held 
in the year
Name
Mike McTighe 1

Paul Hamer
David Wilton 
Graham Olver 2

Robert Barr 
Brian Duckworth3

David Jeffcoat 4

John Richardson 5

Full
Board

12

10
12
12
11
11
0
6
6

Audit
Committee

6

6
-
-
-
6
0
4
2

Remuneration
Committee

9

4
7
-
-
9
0
4
5

Nomination
Committee

3

-
2
-
-
3
0
0
3

1. Mike McTighe was appointed as a Director on 3
August 2009
2.  Graham Olver was appointed as a Director on 3
August 2009
3. Brian Duckworth resigned as a Director on 3 August
2009
4. David Jeffcoat was appointed as a Director on 16
December 2009
5. John Richardson resigned as a Director on 31 January
2010
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The Committee was renamed as Audit & Risk in May

2010 when the Board decided to expand its terms of

reference to include reviewing the effectiveness of

the arrangements made by management for the

identification, assessment, management and 

monitoring of all aspects of business risk.  Other key

features of its terms of reference comprise: 

� Ensuring as far as possible the integrity of the

� Company and Group statutory financial 

� statements

� Making recommendations to the Board regarding 

� the appointment, re-appointment and/or removal 

� of the external auditors

� Agreeing the scope and nature of the external 

� audit process and considering the resultant 

� reports prepared by the auditors

� Monitoring the effectiveness of the internal audit 

� function, ensuring that it is adequately resourced 

� and has appropriate standing within the Group

� Reviewing procedures for detecting fraud and 

� ensuring that arrangements are in place whereby

� staff may, in confidence, raise concerns about

� possible improprieties in financial or other matters

� Reviewing and approving Group Finance Manual,

� including delegated authority levels, on a regular 

� basis

During the year the Committee met formally on six

occasions.  In addition the Committee met the 

external auditors without the presence of the

Company’s executive management to review the

financial statements and discuss any other relevant

matters in confidence. The Chairman of the

Committee also held informal meetings with the 

senior external audit partner and the Head of Group
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Internal Audit on a regular basis during the year.

The Committee Chairman reports to every main

Board meeting on any relevant audit & risk-relat-

ed developments and provides copies of the

Committee minutes and relevant reports to all

Board members.

The Audit & Risk Committee also monitors the

nature and extent of non-audit work undertaken

by the auditors.  Details of the fees paid to the

external auditors for the year to 30 June 2010,

the split between audit and non-audit fees and

information on the nature of non-audit fees is

included in Note 3 to the accounts.  The non-

audit fees that were paid in respect of assurance

work and international regulatory requirements

were not considered by the Audit Committee to

affect the independence of the auditors.

Remuneration Committee

The composition and role of the Remuneration

Committee is set out in the Directors’

Remuneration Report on pages 41 to 43. Full

details of the Directors’ remuneration and a state-

ment on remuneration policy are included in the

report.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee comprises all Non

Executive Directors and the Chief Executive

Officer and is chaired by Mike McTighe.  The

Committee’s terms of reference include regular

reviews of the structure, size and composition of

the Board and the identification and nomination

of candidates for appointment to the Board.

During the year the Committee has carried out a

formal assessment of the performance of the

Board and that of its committees and identified

areas in which their effectiveness, policies and

processes might be enhanced. 

The Committee also considers succession planning

for the Board and senior managers of the Group.    

Dialogue with Shareholders

We value the views of all our shareholders and

recognise their interest in our performance, 

strategy and objectives.   

There is a regular dialogue with institutional

investors, fund managers, brokers, analysts and

the media. These meetings are generally 

conducted by the Chief Executive Officer and

Group Finance Director.    Feedback on these

meetings and copies of any analyst’s reports are

provided to the other members of the Board.

Formal communication with shareholders is mainly

through the Interim and Annual Reports and all

shareholders are invited to attend the AGM, which

is attended by the full Board.  

There is a comprehensive investors section on our

website, www.wyg.com, which is regularly

reviewed to ensure that all shareholders have

access to the most up to date information.

The Chairman and Senior Independent Director

are available to shareholders at any time to 

discuss strategy and governance matters.  Non

Executive Directors do not ordinarily attend 

meetings with major shareholders but would do

so if this was requested.

Approved by the Board and signed on its behalf

by

Graham Olver
Secretary
01 November 2010
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7. Directors’ Remuneration 
Report

The regulations require that the auditors’ report

to the members of the Company on the

‘auditable’ part of the Directors’ Remuneration

Report and state whether, in their opinion, that

part of the report has been prepared in accor-

dance with the Companies Act 2006.  This report

has been split into separate sections for unaudit-

ed and audited.

Unaudited Information

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises all Non

Executive Directors and is chaired by Robert Barr.

It has clearly defined terms of reference to deter-

mine, on behalf of the Board, all aspects of

remuneration of the Executive Directors. These

terms of reference are reviewed annually by the

Board. It is also kept advised of and consulted on

all aspects of senior management remuneration

across the Group. The Group Chief Executive

Officer is invited to attend meetings of the com-

mittee but not when his own arrangements are

being considered. The Group HR Director and

Group Finance Director attend and advise the

committee as required by invitation.

Copies of the committee’s terms of reference are

available on the Company’s website

www.wyg.com.

Remuneration Policy 

The overall policy of the Board is to:

� Attract, motivate and retain talented people 

� at all levels across the Group

� Provide competitive salary and benefit 

� packages and

� Encourage the holding of shares in the 

� Company as an effective way of aligning the 

� interests of employees with those of 

� shareholders

Basic Salary

Basic salaries are reviewed by the committee

each year taking into account individual and

Group performance. It uses as a comparator the

salaries of other companies of a similar size and

complexity and the level of base salary of other

senior staff in the Group. Each of the Executive

Directors volunteered to surrender part of his

salary for the year ended June 2010. Paul Hamer

surrendered £32.5k, David Wilton surrendered

£25k and Graham Olver surrendered £23k. From

1 July 2010, the Executive Directors have 

reverted to their pre-surrender salary levels.

Benefits

Benefits include a car allowance or a car and

payment of its operating expenses and fuel, life

assurance and entitlement to a non contributory

private healthcare scheme.

Pensions

Executive Directors are members of a defined

contribution pension scheme. Annual 

contributions are calculated by reference to a

percentage of base salary, with Executive

Directors each receiving contributions of 17.5%

of salary. 

Performance Related Annual Bonus

Executive Directors participate in a performance

related annual bonus scheme; the maximum

bonus payable is 75% of salary. Bonuses can only

be earned if challenging performance targets

determined by the committee at the start of the

financial year are achieved.

For the year ended 30 June 2010 there were

three performance-related potential cash bonus

elements which could have been earned by the

Executive Directors. Of the total potential bonus,

30% was based on delivery of the budgeted

Group operating profit, 30% was based on cash

generated from operations and 15% was based
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on the successful conclusion of the revised 

banking arrangements with the Group’s banking syn-

dicate. There was no tapering of payment for below

budget performance nor was there 

additional payment for over budget performance. 

The three elements of the potential award were

measured separately and could have been earned

separately. 

The Executive Directors waived their right to any

bonus element save for the 15% element based on

successful conclusion of the revised banking arrange-

ments effected on 8 January 2010. This was despite

having achieved the target for cash generated from

operations which would have yielded the additional

30% bonus.

Long Term Incentives

At the Extraordinary General Meeting on 6 January

2010, shareholders approved the WYG plc

Performance Share Plan 2009 (“the PSP”) and the

WYG plc Joint Share Ownership Plan 2009 (“the

JSOP”) and the grant of awards to Executive

Directors. 

The grant of the awards over “B” Preference shares

in the capital of the Company was made on 13

January 2010 and awards under the terms of the

JSOP were granted by the Trustee of the White

Young Green plc 2009 Employee Benefit Trust (the

“Trustee”) on 1 April 2010.  

Shareholders approved the award of 1,058,696 new

ordinary shares to Paul Hamer. On 1 April 2010,

under the terms of the JSOP, the Trustee of the

White Young Green plc 2009 Employee Benefit Trust

granted Paul Hamer 841,726 new ordinary shares at

a hurdle price of 34.75p. On 16 July 2010, the

Trustee granted an award to Paul Hamer of the

remaining 216,970 new ordinary shares of his 

entitlement at a hurdle price of 32.75p. 
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*The hurdle price is the hurdle quantum at the

date of grant plus 5% per annum calculated over

three years, being the earliest vesting date of the

award.

In normal circumstances the award holder will

have the opportunity to realise value from the

JSOP award on the third anniversary of the date

of grant or thereafter. No performance target

applies to these awards.

The following one off award, as previously

approved by the shareholders, was granted by

the Trustee on 1 April 2010. In normal 

circumstances the award holder will have the

opportunity to realise value from the JSOP award

on the third anniversary of the date of grant or

thereafter. No performance target applies to this

award.  Further details are given in note 30 to the

accounts.

Executive Director Service Agreements

All service agreements for the Executive Directors

are terminable on 12 months’ notice by either

party. None of the Executive Directors hold non

executive directorships outside of the Group.

Non Executive Directors’ Appointments 

and Remuneration

The Chairman and the Non Executive Directors do

not have contracts of employment but are

appointed by letter of appointment. Such 

appointments are initially for a three year term

and are terminable on three months’ notice by

either party at any time. The remuneration of the

Non Executive Directors is determined by the

Board within the limits set out in the Articles of

Association. Save in the case of the one off award

to Mike McTighe described above, Non Executive

Directors are not eligible for pensions, share

incentives or bonus payments.

Name

Mike 
McTighe

Number of
shares

705,797

Class of shares

New ordinary
shares 

Hurdle price*

40.23p

Name

Paul 
Hamer

David 
Wilton

Graham
Olver

Number of
shares

841,726

216,970

780,000

264,674

480,000

264,674

480,000

Class of shares

New ordinary
shares 

New ordinary
shares 

B preference
shares 

New ordinary
shares 

B preference
shares

New ordinary
shares 

B preference
shares 

Hurdle price*

40.23p

37.91p

nil

40.23p

nil

40.23p

nil
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Executive Directors
Paul Hamer
David Wilton
Graham Olver
Non Executive Directors
Mike McTighe
Robert Barr
David Jeffcoat
Brian Duckworth (resigned 3 August 2009)
John Richardson (resigned 31 January 2010)

*Includes basic salary, annual bonus, car allowance in lieu of company car and fees to Non Executive Directors.
Brian Duckworth resigned as a member of the Board on 3 August 2009 upon the appointment of Mike McTighe as
Chairman. 
John Richardson retired on 31 January 2010. David Jeffcoat was appointed as non executive director on 16
December 2009.

Unaudited Information

Directors’ Interests

The total beneficial, family and contingent interests of the Directors in the share capital of the

Company were as follows: 

At 30 June 2010 

Paul Hamer
David Wilton
Graham Olver
Mike McTighe
David Jeffcoat
Robert Barr

Beneficial 
shares

Number
6,300
7,500

-
-
-

1,250

B preference 
shares

Number
780,000
480,000
480,000

-
-
-

JSOP

Number
1,058,696

264,674
264,674
705,797

-
-

LTIP 

Number
31,551
25,240

-
-
-
-

Share
incentive

plan
Number

-
577

-
-
-
-

Share Incentive Plan (SIP) – The SIP was terminated on 8 January 2010.
Long Term Incentive Plan – The Trustee adjusted the number of shares awarded under the LTIP to take account of
the share reconstruction that took place shortly after 6 January 2010.  Prior to this, on 8 December 2009, Paul Hamer
surrendered 184,490 shares and David Wilton surrendered 147,591 shares held under the LTIP.

On behalf of the remuneration committee

Robert Barr
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
01 November 2010 4433

Audited Information

Directors’ Remuneration

Emoluments*  
£‘000

341
244
226

165
35
19
19
20

Pension
£‘000

57
39
36

-
-
-
-
-

Benefits in
kind 

£’000

17
1
1

-
-
-
-
-

2010 
Total
£’000

415
284
263

165
35
19
19
20

2009
Total
£’000

359
89

-

-
33

-
55
35
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8. Independent Auditors’
Report to the Members 
of WYG plc

We have audited the group and parent company

financial statements (the ‘‘financial

statements’’) of WYG Plc for the year ended 30

June 2010 which comprise the Consolidated

Income Statement, the Consolidated Statement

of Comprehensive Income, the Group and

Company Balance Sheets, the Group and

Company Cash flow Statements, the Consolidated

Statement of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity,

and the related notes. The financial reporting

framework that has been applied in their 

preparation is applicable law and International

Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted

by the European Union and, as regards the 

parent company financial statements, as applied

in accordance with the provisions of the

Companies Act 2006.

Respective responsibilities of directors 

and auditors

As explained more fully in the Directors’

Responsibilities Statement set out on pages 24

and 25, the directors are responsible for the

preparation of the financial statements and for

being satisfied that they give a true and fair view.

Our responsibility is to audit the financial state-

ments in accordance with applicable law and

International Standards on Auditing (UK and

Ireland). Those standards require us to comply

with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical

Standards for Auditors.

This report, including the opinions, has been pre-

pared for and only for the company’s members as

a body in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16

of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other pur-

pose.  We do not, in giving these opinions,

accept or assume responsibility for any other pur-

pose or to any other person to whom this report

is shown or into whose hands it may come save

where expressly agreed by our prior consent in

writing.

Scope of the Audit of the Financial

Statements

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the

amounts and disclosures in the financial state-

ments sufficient to give reasonable assurance

that the financial statements are free from mate-

rial misstatement, whether caused by fraud or

error. This includes an assessment of: whether

the accounting policies are appropriate to the

company’s circumstances and have been consis-

tently applied and adequately disclosed; the rea-

sonableness of significant accounting estimates

made by the directors; and the overall presenta-

tion of the financial statements.

Opinion on financial statements 

In our opinion: 

� The financial statements give a true and fair 

� view of the state of the group’s and of the 

� parent company’s affairs as at 30 June 2010 

� and of the group’s loss and group’s and parent

� company’s cash flows for the year then ended;

� The group financial statements have been 

� properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs 

� as adopted by the European Union; 

� The parent company financial statements have

� been properly prepared in accordance with 

� IFRSs as adopted by the European Union and

� as applied in accordance with the provisions of

� the Companies Act 2006; and

� The financial statements have been prepared

� in accordance with the requirements of the 

� Companies Act 2006
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Opinion on other matter prescribed by the

Companies Act 2006

In our opinion, the information given in the Directors’

Report for the financial year for which the financial

statements are prepared is consistent with the finan-

cial statements.

Matters on which we are required to report by 

exception

We have nothing to report in respect of the following

matters where the Companies Act 2006 requires us

to report to you if, in our opinion:

� Adequate accounting records have not been kept 

� by the parent company, or returns adequate for 

� our audit have not been received from branches 

� not visited by us; or

� The parent company financial statements are not 

� in agreement with the accounting records and 

� returns; or

� Certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration 

� specified by law are not made; or

� We have not received all the information and 

� explanations we require for our audit

Ian Morrison 
(Senior Statutory Auditor) 
for and on behalf of
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and
Statutory Auditors
Leeds 
01 November 2010
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Continuing 

operations

Revenue

Operating expenses

Operating loss

Finance costs

Loss before tax

Tax credit 

Loss attributable to 

equity shareholders

Loss per share

Basic

Diluted

Note

2

3

3

5

7

24

8

Before

exceptional

and other

items

2010

£’000

220,620

(213,468)

7,152

(5,176)

1,976

1,112

3,088

4.6p

4.5p

Exceptional

and other

items

2010

£’000

-

(17,315)

(17,315)

(6,524)

(23,839)

35

(23,804)

Total

2010

£’000

220,620

(230,783)

(10,163)

(11,700)

(21,863)

1,147

(20,716)

(31.0p)

(31.0p)

Before 

exceptional

and other

items

2009

£’000

261,629

(244,649)

16,980

(4,868)

12,112

(2,912)

9,200

16.0p

16.0p

Exceptional 

and other

items

2009

£’000

-

(140,634)

(140,634)

(374)

(141,008)

3,466

(137,542)

The accompanying notes to the accounts are an integral part of this Consolidated Income Statement.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year ended 30 June 2010

Loss attributable to equity shareholders

Other comprehensive income:

Net exchange adjustments offset in reserves net of tax

Actuarial losses on defined benefit pension schemes

Losses on cash flow hedges

Tax on items taken directly to equity

Other comprehensive income for the year

Total comprehensive income for the year

2010

£’000

(20,716)

348

(204)

-

57

201

(20,515)

2009

£’000

(128,342)

(2,138)

(1,449)

(493)

214

(3,866)

(132,208)

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
For the year ended 30 June 2010

Total

2009

£’000

261,629

(385,283)

(123,654)

(5,242)

(128,896)

554

(128,342)

(223.6p)

(223.6p)
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The accompanying notes to the accounts are an integral part of these Balance Sheets.

The accounts were approved by the Board of directors on 28 October and signed on its behalf by:

PAUL HAMER DAVID WILTON

Chief Executive Group Finance Director

01 November 2010 01 November 2010
4477

Non-current assets

Goodwill

Other intangible assets

Property, plant and equipment

Investments

Deferred tax assets

Derivative financial instruments

Current assets

Work in progress

Trade and other receivables

Tax recoverable

Cash and cash equivalents

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables

Current tax liabilities

Financial liabilities

Net current assets

Non-current liabilities

Financial liabilities

Retirement benefit obligation

Deferred tax liabilities

Derivative financial instruments

Provisions, liabilities and other

charges

Net assets/(liabilities)

Shareholders’ equity

Share capital

Share premium 

Preference share capital

Merger reserve

Currency translation reserve

Retained earnings

Total shareholders’ equity/(deficit)

Note

11

12

13

14

15

22

16

17

18

21

21

31

15

19

23

24

23

24

24

24

2010

£’000

36,830

10,361

6,276

-

259

-

53,726

30,146

42,210

1,590

15,451

89,397

(57,331)

(913)

(534)

(58,778)

30,619

(48,795)

(3,912)

(3,476)

(760)

(26,278)

(83,221)

1,124

5,648

37,920

19,440

17,900

3,333

(83,117)

1,124

2009

£’000

43,472

12,699

13,854

-

275

13

70,313

41,189

64,076

3,919

10,896

120,080

(72,399)

(704)

(7,298)

(80,401)

39,679

(88,946)

(4,126)

(3,586)

-

(30,056)

(126,714)

(16,722)

2,648

22,324

-

17,900

2,985

(62,579)

(16,722)

2010

£’000

-

-

-

42,142

-

-

42,142

-

49,436

-

359

49,795

(1,695)

(218)

-

(1,913)

47,882

(48,543)

-

-

(760)

-

(49,303)

40,721

5,648

37,920

19,440

17,900

13

(40,200)

40,721

2009

£’000

-

-

-

42,142

-

13

42,155

-

36,161

-

359

36,520

(1,061)

(218)

-

(1,279)

35,241

(88,256)

-

-

-

- 

(88,256)

(10,860)

2,648

22,324

-

17,900

13

(53,745)

(10,860)

Group Company

BALANCE SHEETS
AS AT 30 JUNE 2010
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CASH FLOW STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010

Operating activities

Cash generated from/(used in) operations

Interest paid

Transaction fees

Tax received/(paid)

Net cash generated from/(used in)

operating activities

Investing activities

Proceeds on disposal of property, plant 

and equipment

Purchases of property, plant and equipment

Purchases of businesses in prior and current

years

Purchases of intangible assets (computer

software)

Net cash used in investing activities

Financing activities

Net proceeds on issue of ordinary share 

capital

Equity dividends paid

Repayments of borrowings

Draw down of loan facilities

Repayments of obligations under finance

leases

Purchase of own shares for 

Employee Benefit Trust

Net cash generated from/(used in)

financing activities

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and

cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning

of year

Cash and cash equivalents at 

end of year

Note

26

5,6

2010

£’000

9,482

(3,998)

(6,524)

3,388

2,348

-

(4,053)

(412)

(261)

(4,726)

-

-

(44,384)

58,543

(804)

-

13,355

10,977

4,449

15,426

2009

£’000

12,454

(5,322)

-

(435)

6,697

671

(6,372)

(7,985)

(989)

(14,675)

775

(3,251)

(94,341)

94,605

(1,627)

(776)

(4,615)

(12,593)

17,042

4,449

2010

£’000 

(13,425)

(778)

-

-

(14,203)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(44,340)

58,543

-

-

14,203

-

359

359

2009

£’000 

8,097

-

-

-

8,097

-

-

(5,914)

-

(5,914)

775

(3,251)

(94,312)

94,605

-

-

(2,183)

-

359

359

Group Company

The accompanying notes to the accounts are an integral part of these Cash Flow Statements. 
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Balance as at 1 July 2008 

Loss for the year

Other comprehensive income: 

Cash flow hedges 

Currency translation differences

Actuarial movements on defined 

benefit pension schemes

Tax on items taken directly to equity

Other comprehensive income for the year

Total comprehensive income for the year

Issue of share capital 

Share based payments 

Dividends

Transfers

Balance at 30 June 2009 

Balance as at 1 July 2009 

Loss for the year

Other comprehensive income: 

Currency translation differences

Actuarial movements on defined 

benefit pension schemes 

Tax on items taken directly to equity

Other comprehensive income for the year

Total comprehensive income for the year

Issue of share capital 

Share based payments

Balance as at June 2010 

Share 

capital

£’000

2,583

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

65

-

-

-

2,648

2,648

-

-

-

-

-

-

22,440

-

25,088

Share 

premium

£’000

21,614

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

710

-

-

-

22,324

22,324

-

-

-

-

-

-

15,596

-

37,920

Treasury shares of £7.5m (2009 £0.7m) have been netted against retained earnings representing shares held by the

Employee Benefit Trust. The treasury shares were gifted to the Employee Benefit Trust by the Group’s lenders as part of

the restructuring on 8 January 2010 and this capital contribution of £6.8m has been netted against retained earnings.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
For the year ended 30 June 2010

Merger

reserve 

£’000

51,599

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(33,699)

17,900

17,900

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

17,900

Hedging

and 

translation

reserve

£’000 

5,616

-

(493)

(2,138)

-

-

(2,631)

(2,631)

-

-

-

-

2,985

2,985

-

348

-

-

348

348

-

-

3,333

Retained

earnings

£’000

38,974

(128,342)

-

-

(1,449)

214

(1,235)

(129,577)

-

(2,424)

(3,251)

33,699

(62,579)

(62,579)

(20,716)

-

(204)

57

(147)

(20,863)

-

325

(83,117)

Total

£’000

120,386

(128,342)

(493)

(2,138)

(1,449)

214

(3,866)

(132,208)

775

(2,424)

(3,251)

-

(16,722)

(16,722)

(20,716)

348

(204)

57

201

(20,515)

38,036

325

1,124
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of accounting
The accounts have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”),

International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”) interpretations endorsed by the European

Union (“EU”) and those parts of the Companies Act 2006 applicable to companies reporting under IFRS. The

accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention with the exception of certain items which are

measured at fair value as disclosed in the principal accounting policies set out below. These policies have been

consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

The preparation of accounts in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires the use of esti-

mates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the accounts and

the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Although these estimates are

based on management’s best knowledge of the amount, event or actions, actual results ultimately may differ

from those estimates.

The consolidated accounts incorporate the accounts of the Company and entities controlled by the Company (its

subsidiaries) made up to 30 June each year. Control is achieved where the Company has the power to govern

the financial and operating policies of an investee entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

Restructuring
In the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2009, information was given on the then proposed

restructuring with the Group's main lenders, Lloyds TSB Banking Group plc, Fortis Bank UK Branch and The

Royal Bank of Scotland plc which was intended to re-balance the Group’s capital structure and reduce the level

of net borrowings. The restructuring was completed on 8 January 2010. It comprised:

� the conversion of £22.9m of debt held by the lenders in exchange for 29,993,441 post-consolidation new 

� ordinary shares;

� the conversion of £30m of additional debt held by the lenders in return for 27.6m ‘A’ preference shares with 

� a nominal value of £27.6m and 2.4m ‘B’ preference shares with a nominal value of £2.4m;

� re-financed three-year lending facilities totalling £58.25m comprising £50m of term debt and £8.25m 

� of working capital facilities;

� committed bonding facilities of €38m.

As part of the restructured banking facilities the Group is required to meet certain financial covenant tests

including leverage, interest cover and cash flow cover which are tested at quarterly intervals over the term of

the facilities.

The Group has been in compliance with the requirements of its banking covenants since the restructuring was

completed in January 2010.
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The Directors' latest financial projections demonstrate that the Company is able to successfully operate within its

current banking facilities and satisfy its covenant requirements for at least twelve months from the date of

approval of these financial statements.

The Group continues to forecast that its future borrowing requirements will be well within the level of its overall

facilities. 

In the current uncertain economic environment, the Directors remain vigilant to the fact that it is the nature of

the Group’s business that there can be unpredictable variations in the timing of cash flows and trading 

performance that can increase the pressure on the agreed covenant structure, particularly from June 2011 when

the basis of calculating the covenants is tightened in accordance with the terms of the facilities agreed in

January 2010, thus reducing the available headroom against the associated covenant thresholds.

In this regard, the Group retains the support of its lenders and the Directors believe that, if required, it will be

possible to put in place renewed or renegotiated covenants in due course.

On this basis, the Directors confirm their belief that it is appropriate to use the going concern basis of 

preparation for the Group financial statements

Revenue recognition
Revenue represents the value of work earned during the year on contracts by reference to total contract value

and stage of completion. 

Profit is recognised on a percentage completion basis when the outcome of a contract or project can be reason-

ably foreseen. Provision is made in full for estimated losses. Where the outcome of a contract cannot reasonably

be foreseen, profit is taken on completion. When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed total contract

revenue, the expected loss is recognised as an expense immediately.

The Group employs the use of third party contractors on its projects but this is not considered a primary source

of revenue. In accordance with IAS 18 these costs have been accounted as part of the cost of the projects. The

Group has primary responsibility for the work carried out, including work done by subcontractors whose services

would have no separate value without the existence of the project controlled by the Group. Since the Group is

acting as principal it recognises revenue based on the gross amount received or receivable in respect of its per-

formance under the sales contract with the end customer.

Third party payments represent costs incurred by the Group on behalf of clients which are invoiced at no 

margin. Progress payments receivable in excess of the value of work executed on individual contracts are includ-

ed in trade and other payables.

Unbilled revenue
As described above revenue represents the value of work earned during the year by reference to the total 

contract value and stage completion. Unbilled revenue is the difference between the revenue recognised and the
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amounts actually invoiced to customers. Where invoicing exceeds the amount of revenue recognised these

amounts are included in trade and other payables. When consumables are used, a charge is made to cost of

sales.

Exceptional and other items
Items that are both material and non-recurring and whose significance is sufficient to warrant separate disclo-

sure and identification within the consolidated financial statements are referred to as exceptional items and dis-

closed within their relevant business segment within note 2, segmental reporting. Items that may give rise to

classification as exceptional items include, but are not limited to, significant and material restructuring closures

and reorganisation programmes, asset impairments, and the profit or losses on the closure of offices. 

‘Other items’ which are recurring in nature but which warrant separate disclosure represent the amortisation of

acquired intangibles. 

Goodwill
Goodwill arising on consolidation represents the excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s interest in the

fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of a subsidiary, associate or jointly controlled entity at the date

of acquisition. Goodwill is recognised as an asset and tested for impairment at least annually by reference to the

relevant cash-generating units (“CGU”) and is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Any 

impairment is recognised immediately in the income statement and is not subsequently reversed.

Goodwill arising on acquisitions before the date of transition to IFRS has been retained at the previous UK 

GAAP amounts subject to being tested for impairment at that date. Goodwill written off to reserves under 

UK GAAP prior to 1998 has not been reinstated and is not included in determining any subsequent profit or loss

on disposal. 

Other intangible assets
Intangible assets purchased separately, such as software licences that do not form an integral part of related

hardware, are capitalised at cost and amortised on a straight-line basis over their useful economic life. Intangible

assets acquired through a business combination are initially measured at fair value and amortised on a straight-

line basis over their useful economic lives. Fair value of the acquired intangible assets is calculated based on the

estimated future benefits the Group will derive from the asset acquired, discounted at an appropriate Weighted

Average Cost of Capital (“WACC”). The useful economic lives used are as follows:

Computer software – 3 to 5 years

Order books – 1 to 4 years

Customer relationships – 5 to 10 years

Impairment of assets
Assets that are subject to amortisation are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstance

indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by

which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an

asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are
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grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (“CGUs”) discounted at an

appropriate rate.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any recognised impairment

loss. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and any costs directly

attributable to bring the asset into use. Borrowing costs related to the purchase of fixed assets are not 

capitalised.

Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost or valuation of assets over their estimated useful lives as 

follows:

Short leasehold improvements – equally over the life of the lease

Motor vehicles – 30% per annum on net book value

Office furniture and equipment – 20 to 33.3% per annum on original cost

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their expected useful lives on the same basis as owned

assets or, where shorter, over the term of the relevant lease.

Assets under construction are carried at cost, less any recognised impairment loss. Depreciation of these assets

commences when the assets are ready for their intended use.

Leased assets
Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and

rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets of the Group at their fair value or, if lower, at the

present value of the minimum lease payments, each determined at the inception of the lease. The corresponding

liability to the lessor is included in the balance sheet as a finance lease obligation. Lease payments are appor-

tioned between finance charges and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate of interest

on the remaining balance of the liability.

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to income on a straight-line basis over the term of the rele-

vant lease. Benefits received and receivable as an incentive to enter into an operating lease are also spread on a

straight-line basis over the lease term. 

Work in progress
Work in progress is stated at cost plus attributable profits less foreseeable losses and progress payments

received and receivable. Cost comprises direct staff costs and attributable overheads. Attributable profit is that

proportion of the total profit currently estimated to arise over the duration of a contract, as earned at the bal-

ance sheet date. Work-in-progress is recognised when projects are assessed for contract progress and the pro-

portion of contract work completed at the balance sheet date is determined in relation to the total contract

works. Appropriate provisions are made for slow moving and irrecoverable work-in-progress.
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Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents (which are presented as a single class of assets on the face of the balance sheet)

comprise cash at bank and other short term highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less.

Tax
The tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax along with any adjustments

to prior year estimates.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported

in the income statement because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other

years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is

calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amounts of

assets and liabilities in the accounts and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit,

and is accounted for using the liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable

temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits

will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are

not recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a

business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the tax profit nor the

accounting profit.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent

that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be

recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled or

the asset is realised. Deferred tax is charged or credited in the income statement, except when it relates to

items charged or credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with in equity.

Foreign currency translation
Items included in the accounts of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the primary

economic environment in which the entity operates (the “functional currency”). The consolidated accounts are

presented in Sterling, which is the Company’s functional and presentation currency.

Transactions in currencies other than the functional currency are recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing on

the dates of the transactions. At each balance sheet date, monetary assets and liabilities that are denominated

in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the balance sheet date. Gains and losses arising

on retranslation are included in the income statement for the period, except for exchange differences arising on

non-monetary assets and liabilities where the changes in fair value are recognised directly in equity.
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On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s overseas operations are translated at exchange rates

prevailing on the balance sheet date. Income and expense items are translated at the average exchange rates

for the period unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly. Exchange differences arising, if any, are classified as

equity and transferred to the Group’s translation reserve. Such translation differences are recognised as income

or as expenses in the period in which the operation is disposed of.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and 

liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the closing rate.

Investments in subsidiary undertakings
Investments in subsidiary undertakings are stated in the Company’s Balance Sheet at cost less any provision for

impairment in value. 

Employee benefits
Retirement benefit costs
Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit schemes are charged as an expense as they fall due.

For defined benefit retirement benefit schemes, the cost of providing benefits is determined using the Projected

Unit Credit Method, with independent actuarial valuations being carried out at each balance sheet date. Actuarial

gains and losses are recognised in full in the period in which they occur. They are recognised outside the income

statement and presented in the statement of comprehensive income and expense.

Past service cost is recognised immediately to the extent that the benefits are already vested, and otherwise is

amortised on a straight line basis over the average period until the benefits become vested.

The retirement benefit obligation recognised in the balance sheet represents the present value of the defined

benefit obligation as adjusted for unrecognised past service cost, and as reduced by the fair value of scheme

assets. Any asset resulting from this calculation is limited to past service cost, plus the present value of 

available refunds and reductions in future contributions to the plan.

Short term compensated absences
A liability for short term compensated absences, such as holiday, is recognised in trade and other payables for

the amount the Group may be required to pay as a result of the unused entitlement that has accumulated at the

balance sheet date.

Deferred and contingent consideration
In respect of acquisitions for which part of the purchase consideration is payable during future accounting 

periods, the full amount of the deferred consideration is recognised immediately, except in respect of 

acquisitions for which part of the purchase consideration is determined by the profits generated by the acquired

Company during future accounting periods. In such cases the contingent consideration is included in the

accounts based on the best estimates of future profitability of the Company at this time. Estimates are revised

as further and more certain information becomes available. Goodwill and deferred consideration are adjusted

accordingly.
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Segment reporting
The Group has adopted the provisions of IFRS8. During the period covered by this report, the Group managed

its business primarily by reference to business segments. The five reported business segments are Engineering,

Environmental, Planning and Transport, Management Services, Ireland and International.

Share-based payments
The Group has applied the requirements of IFRS 2 (share-based payments). In accordance with the transitional

provisions, IFRS 2 has been applied to all grants of equity instruments after 7 November 2002 that were 

unvested as of 1 January 2005. There is no change in the treatment for equity instruments granted before 

7 November 2002.

The Group issues equity-settled payments to certain employees. Equity-settled share-based payments are 

measured at fair value at the date of grant. The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-settled

share-based payments is expensed on a straight line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s 

estimate of shares that will eventually vest.

The fair value of share options is measured by use of the Black-Scholes model. The expected life used in the

model has been adjusted, based on management’s best estimate, for the effects of non-transferability, exercise

restrictions and behavioural considerations. 

Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the Group’s Balance Sheet when the Group becomes a

party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Trade receivables
Trade receivables do not carry any interest and are stated at their amortised cost as reduced by appropriate

allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts. A provision for impairment is established where there is objec-

tive evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of the

receivables. The amount of the provision is recognised in the income statement.

Bank borrowings
Interest-bearing bank loans and overdrafts are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Finance charges, including premiums payable on settlement or redemption and direct issue costs, are accounted

for on an accrual basis in the income statement and are added to the carrying amount of the instrument to the

extent that they are not settled in the period in which they arise. Transaction costs arising on the restructuring

have been treated as exceptional and other items.

Trade payables
Trade payables are not interest-bearing and are stated at their amortised cost.

Equity instruments
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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Equity instruments include preference shares issued as part of the capital restructuring since, in accordance with

IAS 32, the Group has the contractual right to delay redemption indefinitely and has no contractual requirement

to pay preference dividends.

Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting
The Group’s activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in foreign currency exchange rates.

The Group hedges its net investment in foreign operations via a foreign currency bank loan. The Group does not

use derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes.

The use of financial derivatives is governed by the Group’s policies approved by the Board of directors, which

provide written principles on the use of financial derivatives.

Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments that are designated and effective as hedges of

future cash flows are recognised directly in equity and the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the

income statement.

Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments that do not qualify for hedge accounting are recog-

nised in the income statement as they arise.

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated, or exercised, or

no longer qualifies for hedge accounting. At that time, any cumulative gain or loss on the hedging instrument

recognised in equity is retained in equity until the forecasted transaction occurs. If a hedged transaction is no

longer expected to occur, the net cumulative gain or loss recognised in equity is transferred to net profit or loss

for the period.

Capital risk management
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going 

concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an opti-

mal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group

may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or

sell assets to reduce debt.

Dividend distribution
Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is recognised as a liability in the Group’s accounts in the

period in which the dividends are approved by the Company’s shareholders. 

Project claims
Project claims can be made as a consequence of disputes or shortcomings in project delivery and could impact

upon the results of the Group. It is embedded in the Group’s culture that client relationships are developed so

as to ensure client satisfaction. However, it is recognised that project claims are possible, and that these risks

cannot completely be eliminated. In the event that such claims arise, in common with others operating in the
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sector, the Group has established professional indemnity insurance policies that are intended to protect against 

significant losses.

Significant judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty
The preparation of the accounts requires the Group to make estimates, judgements and assumptions that affect

the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and related disclosure of contingent assets

and liabilities. The directors base their estimates on historical experience and various other assumptions that

they believe are reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgements

about the carrying value of the assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual

results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

Areas of judgement and sources of estimation uncertainty that have the most significant effect on the amounts

recognised in the financial statements are:

� Revenue recognition and the assessment of the percentage of contract completion achieved. The 

� Group assesses contract progress and determines the proportion of contract work completed at the 

� balance sheet date in relation to the total contract works. 

� Review of asset carrying values and impairment charges. The Group performs impairment testing in 

� accordance with the accounting policy described within the significant accounting policies in the notes to the

�accounts. The calculation of recoverable amounts requires the use of estimates and assumptions consistent 

�with the most recent budgets and plans that have been formally approved by management.

� Professional indemnity insurance. The Group operates a captive insurance company in the UK called Oakdale.

� This company provides reinsurance exclusively to certain companies within the Group. Provision is made on 

� actuarial assessment of the reserve for future claims necessarily includes estimates as to the likely trend of 

� future claims costs and as to the emergence of further claims subsequent to the year end. An actuarial  

� review of claims is performed annually. To the extent that actual claims differ from those projected, the 

� provisions could vary significantly. 

� For all defined benefit pension schemes, pension valuations have been performed using specialist advice 

� obtained from independent qualified actuaries.  Furthermore, the Group has performed a valuation of the 

� potential outstanding liabilities and legal costs associated with the 1986 Scheme which is wound up and 

� closed to future accruals.  In performing these valuations, judgements, assumptions and estimates have  

� been made. The assumptions made have been disclosed in Note 31.

� Work in progress and receivables valuation. The Group assess work in progress and trade receivables for

�exposure to losses. Provision is made in full for estimated losses.

New IFRS Standards and Interpretations Not Applied
The IASB and IFRIC have issued additional standards and interpretations which are effective for periods starting

after the date of these financial statements. 

The following significant new standards and amendments to standards are mandatory for the first  time for the

financial year beginning 1 July 2009:

� IFRS 3 (revised), ‘Business combinations’, and consequential amendments to IAS 27, ‘Consolidated and 

� separate financial statements’, IAS 28, ‘Investments in associates’, and IAS 31, ‘Interests in joint 
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� ventures’, are effective prospectively to business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or

�after the beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning on or after 1 July 2009. The 

� adoption of this standard has not had a significant impact for the Group.

� IAS 1 (revised), ‘Presentation of financial statements’. The most significant change within IAS 1 

� (revised) is the requirement to produce a statement of comprehensive income setting out all items of 

� income and expense relating to non-owner changes in equity. There is a choice between presenting 

� comprehensive income in one statement or in two statements comprising an income statement and a

�separate statement of comprehensive income. The Group has elected to present comprehensive 

� income in two statements. In addition, IAS 1 (revised) requires the statement of changes in 

� shareholders’ equity to be presented as a primary statement. The other revisions to IAS 1 have not 

� had a significant impact for the Group.

� IFRS 8 ‘Operating segments’. IFRS 8 replaces IAS 14, ‘Segment reporting’ and requires the 

� disclosure of segment information on the same basis as the management information provided to the

� chief operating decision-maker. The adoption of this standard in the prior year did not result in a 

� change in the Group’s reportable segments.

� IFRIC 19, ‘Extinguishing financial liabilities with equity instruments’. The interpretation is 

� effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010 but has been early adopted by the 

� Group. 

The following new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are mandatory for the first time for

the financial year beginning 1 July 2009, but are not relevant to the Group:

� IFRIC 13, ‘Customer loyalty programmes’. 

� IFRIC 15, ‘Agreements for the construction of real estate’. 

� IFRIC 16, ‘Hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation’. 

� IFRIC 17, ‘Distributions of non-cash assets to owners’. 

� IFRIC 18, ‘Transfers of assets from customers’. 

� IAS 39 (amendment), ‘Financial instruments: recognition and measurement’.

The following new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations have been issued, but are not effec-

tive for the financial year beginning 1 July 2009 and have not been early adopted by the Group:

� IFRS 9, ‘Financial instruments’, issued in December 2009. This addresses the classification and 

� measurement of financial assets and is likely to affect the Group’s accounting for its financial assets. 

� The standard is not applicable until 1 January 2013 but is available for early adoption. The Group is 

� yet to assess IFRS 9’s full impact.

� Revised IAS 24, ‘Related party disclosures’, issued in November 2009. It supersedes IAS 24, ‘Related 

� party disclosures’, issued in 2003. The revised IAS 24 is required to be applied from 1 January 2011. Earlier 

� application, in whole or in part, is permitted.

� ‘Classification of rights issues’ (Amendment to IAS 32), issued in October 2009. The amendment should 

� be applied for annual periods beginning on or after 1 February 2010. Earlier application is permitted.

� ‘Prepayments of a minimum funding requirement’ (Amendments to IFRIC 14), issued in November 2009. 

� The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning 1 January 2011. Earlier application is permitted. 

� The amendments should be applied retrospectively to the earliest comparative period presented.

� The various other minor amendments to existing standards have no impact on the Group's results at 

� 30 June 2010.
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2. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

Business Segments

IFRS 8 requires segment reporting to be based on the internal financial information reported to the chief operat-

ing decision maker. The Group’s chief operating decision maker is deemed to be the Executive Committee com-

prising Paul Hamer (Chief Executive Officer), David Wilton (Group Finance Director), Graham Olver (Group

Commercial Director), Liz Zukowski (HR Director)  and the managing directors of the Business Units: Neil

Parison (International), Ray Moore (Ireland), David Crichton-Miller (Engineering and Environment Planning

Transport) and Clive Anderson (Management Services). Its primary responsibility is to manage the Group’s day

to day operations and analyse trading performance. The Group’s segments are detailed below and are those

segments reported in the Group’s management accounts used by the Executive Committee as the primary

means for analysing trading performance. The Executive Committee assesses profit performance using operating

profit measured on a basis consistent with the disclosure in the Group accounts.

The Group’s operations are managed and reported by Business Units as follows.

Engineering, Management Services and Environment Planning Transport are skill based, operate mainly in Great

Britain and address a range of different markets and clients.  There is no material reliance on specific clients or

on types of project and the Business Units are actively encouraged to make best use of their own skills whilst

actively promoting, where applicable, the other skills available within the wider Group, thereby maximising the

opportunity to cross-sell.

The Business Unit in Ireland, which covers both Northern Ireland and the Republic of Ireland, is set up to pro-

vide clients with skills in Engineering, Management Services and Environment, Planning and Transport.  In

effect, it replicates the organisational structure in Great Britain.

The International Business Unit was originally established on the back of socio-economic service demand from

major clients such as the EU, World Bank and the UK Department for International Development.  It has estab-

lished in-country operations in Poland, Russia, Romania, Bulgaria, Turkey, Abu-Dhabi, Kazakhstan and South

Africa and, in addition to its traditional socio economic service, now provides technical services into those mar-

kets utilising the skills available across the rest of the WYG plc business.

Segment consolidation is based on the same accounting principles as for the Group as a whole. Inter-segment

sales are charged at prevailing market prices.
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Revenue

Gross revenue

Inter-segment

External gross revenue

Operating profit

excluding exceptional 

and other items

Exceptional and 

other items

Exceptional item – gain 

on debt restructuring

Operating loss

Finance costs

Loss before tax

Tax

Loss attributable to equity

shareholders

Other information

Additions to property,

plant and equipment and

intangible assets

Depreciation and 

amortisation

Balance sheet

Assets

Segment assets

Unallocated corporate

assets

Group total assets

Liabilities

Segment liabilities

Unallocated corporate

liabilities

Group total liabilities

Engineering

2010

£’000

53,408

(232)

53,176

1,433

(4,058)

-

(2,625)

1,052

1,371

16,040

(20,694)

Management 

Services

2010

£’000

24,947

(21)

24,926

1,295

(1,186)

-

109

459

651

20,858

(6,020)

Segmental information about these businesses is presented below:

Environment 

Planning

Transport

2010

£’000

45,495

(14)

45,481

3,302

(3,061)

-

241

999

1,427

43,992

(12,503)

Ireland

2010

£’000

32,703

(1,017)

31,686

(216)

(21,446)

-

(21,662)

696

1,285

18,048

(19,292)

International

2010

£’000

65,351

-

65,351

1,338

(2,418)

-

(1,080)

1,184

1,158

37,812

(32,632)

Group

2010

£’000

221,904

(1,284)

220,620

7,152

(32,169)

14,854

(10,163)

(11,700)

(21,863)

1,147

(20,716)

4,390

5,892

136,750

6,373

143,123

(91,141)

(50,858)

(141,999)

Unallocated corporate assets represent cash and cash equivalents and deferred tax assets.

Unallocated corporate liabilities represent bank overdrafts and loans, retirement benefit obligations and

deferred tax liabilities. 

wygSECT 5 numbers  3/11/10  17:05  Page 17



6622

Revenue

Gross revenue

Inter-segment

External net revenue

Operating profit

excluding exceptional 

and other items

Exceptional and 

other items

Operating loss

Finance costs

Loss before tax

Tax

Loss attributable to equity

shareholders

Other information

Additions to property,

plant and equipment and

intangible assets

Depreciation and 

amortisation

Balance sheet

Assets

Segment assets

Unallocated corporate

assets

Group total assets

Liabilities

Segment liabilities

Unallocated corporate

liabilities

Group total liabilities

Engineering

2009

£’000

76,573

(415)

76,158

2,079

(37,279)

(35,200)

2,450

3,144

27,673

(30,194)

Management 

Services

2009

£’000

28,590

(85)

28,505

3,246

(7,473)

(4,227)

743

1,037

24,531

(8,270)

Business Segmenmts continued

Environment 

Planning

Transport

2009

£’000

53,817

(21)

53,796

6,334

(10,790)

(4,456)

1,435

2,063

48,023

(13,555)

Ireland

2009

£’000

52,136

(1,798)

50,338

3,771

(62,692)

(58,921)

1,607

2,948

42,701

(22,799)

International

2009

£’000

52,832

-

52,832

1,550

(22,400)

(20,850)

1,684

1,314

43,498

(37,969)

Group

2009

£’000

263,948

(2,319)

261,629

16,980

(140,634)

(123,654)

(5,242)

(128,896)

554

(128,342)

7,919

10,506

186,426

3,967

190,393

(112,787)

(94,328)

(207,115)

Unallocated corporate assets represent cash and cash equivalents and deferred tax assets.

Unallocated corporate liabilities represent bank overdrafts and loans, retirement benefit obligations and

deferred tax liabilities.
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3. OPERATING EXPENSES

Staff costs (Note 4)

Other external and operating charges

Depreciation

Amortisation of intangible assets

Details of exceptional and other items charged in the year can be found in note 6

Operating loss has been arrived at after charging/(crediting):

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

Amortisation of intangible assets

Impairment of goodwill

Impairment of intangible assets

Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment

Gain on debt restructuring

Operating lease rentals – plant and machinery

Operating lease rentals – other

Research and development

During the year, the Group obtained the following services from the Group’s auditors:

Fees payable to the Company’s auditors for 

the audit of the parent company and consolidated accounts

Fees payable to the Company’s auditors and its associates 

for other services:

The audit of the Company’s subsidiaries pursuant to legislation 

Other services supplied pursuant to legislation

Corporate finance services

Tax services

6633

Geographical Segments

The Group’s operations are primarily located in Great Britain, Ireland and Europe. The following table provides an

analysis of the Group’s sales by geographical market, irrespective of the origin of the goods/services, the carrying

amount of segment assets, and additions to property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, analysed by the

geographical area in which the assets are located:

2009

£’000

158,459

50,338

29,862

22,970

-

261,629

Great Britain

Ireland

Rest of Europe

Other

Unallocated corporate assets

2010

£’000

123,583

31,686

49,077

16,274

-

220,620

Sales revenue by
geographical market

Carrying amount
of segment assets

Additions to property,
plant and equipment
and intangible assets

2009

£’000

98,768

42,701

43,498

-

5,426

190,393

2010

£’000

80,890

18,048

37,812

-

6,373

143,123

2009

£’000

4,629

1,607

1,683

-

-

7,919

2010

£’000

2,511

696

1,183

-

-

4,390

2010

£’000

98,356

126,535

3,345

2,547

230,783

2010

£’000

3,345

2,547

6,920

7,488

875

(14,854)

1,706

6,639

3,357

2010

£’000

20

230

-

339

41

630

2009

£’000

131,059

243,718

6,977

3,529

385,283

2009

£’000

6,977

3,529

77,184

-

201

-

2,060

7,389

5,092

2009

£’000

20

184

40

164

28

436
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4. STAFF COSTS

The average monthly number of employees (including executive directors) was:

Technical

Administrative

The actual number of employees at 30 June 2010 (including executive directors) was:

Technical

Administrative

Their aggregate remuneration comprised:

Wages and salaries

Social security costs

Pension costs 

In addition to the above permanent staff, the Group utilises the services of agency and temporary contract

staff as circumstances require.

Details of directors’ remuneration are given in the Directors’ Remuneration Report. Only the information

included within the directors’ remuneration table on page  44, consisting of the emoluments, pension and

benefits in kind has been audited.

The directors have identified 12 (2009: 18) (Company 2009: 4) key management personnel whose 

compensation was as follows:

Short term employment benefits

Post employment benefits

Gains made on share-based payments

6644

2010

Number

-

3

3

2010

Number

-

3

3

£’000

205

24

-

229

2010

£’000

229

-

-

229

2009

Number

-

3

3

2009

Number

-

2

2

£’000

217

20

-

237

2009

£’000

213

-

-

213

2010

Number

1,877

565

2,442

2010

Number

1,627

521

2,148

£’000

83,531

11,366

3,459

98,356

2010

£’000

1,920

200

-

2,120

2009

Number

2,440

745

3,185

2009

Number

2,069

699

2,768

£’000

111,734

15,320

4,005

131,059

2009

£’000

2,737

176

297

3,210

Group Company

Group Company

Group Company

wygSECT 5 numbers  3/11/10  17:05  Page 20



6655

5. FINANCE COSTS

Interest on bank loans, guarantees and overdrafts

Transaction costs (note 6)

Interest on obligations under finance leases

Interest on loan notes

Interest on defined benefit scheme liabilities

Fair value losses on financial instruments – interest rate swaps

Employee termination costs

Office closure costs

Work in progress and trade receivables provisions

Professional indemnity claim provisions

Professional fees

Impairment of goodwill

Impairment of capitalised software development costs

Gain on debt restructuring 

Other restructuring costs

Transaction costs

Exceptional items

Amortisation of acquired intangible assets

Exceptional and other items

2010

£’000

3,954

6,524

44

-

406

772

11,700

2010

£’000

4,705

3,457

7,291

-

-

6,920

7,963

(14,854)

259

6,524

22,265

1,574

23,839

2009

£’000

4,357

374

138

3

370

-

5,242

2009

£’000

8,968

20,602

20,547

5,650

3,440

77,184

-

-

2,013

374

138,778

2,230

141,008

6. EXCEPTIONAL AND OTHER ITEMS
The following is an analysis of the exceptional and other items arising within the Group during the peri-

od, all of which have been included in the Consolidated Income Statement.

The Group has incurred substantial exceptional items in the financial year.  These arose predominantly

from the restructure of the Group and related to redundancies, transaction costs due to refinancing and

office closure costs, the further write down of WIP and trade receivables balances in Ireland as this part

of the business is restructured, the write off of the capitalised software development costs and the

impairment of goodwill in Ireland (note 11).  The exceptional costs were partially offset by the gain

recognised on the conversion of debt to equity as part of the restructuring (note 23). A significant ele-

ment of the exceptional and other items do not represent a cash cost in the financial year.  Other items

relate to the amortisation of customer relationships and order book intangible assets. 

The tax impact of exceptional and other items is a credit of £35,000 (2009: £3,466,000 credit).
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7. TAX

Current tax:

UK corporation tax on profits for the year at 28% (2009: 28%)

Adjustments in respect of prior years

Overseas tax on profits for the year

Deferred tax:

Movement in deferred tax

Tax on items charged to equity:

Deferred tax credit related to share-based payments

Deferred tax charge related to the actuarial gains and losses 

on retirement benefit schemes

Loss before tax

Loss before tax multiplied by the standard rate 

of UK corporation tax rate of 28% (2009: 28%)

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes

Non-deductible acquired assets amortisation

Adjustments in respect of prior years

Enhanced expenditure

Fixed asset timing differences

Losses carried forward

Other permanent and temporary differences

Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries 

operating in other jurisdictions

Total current tax credit

Current year deferred tax 

– on amortisation of acquired intangibles

– other

Total tax credit

2010

£’000

67

(1,750)

629

(1,054)

(93)

(1,147)

-

57

57

2010

£’000

(21,863)

(6,122)

-

-

(1,750)

(420)

(60)

5,260

560

1,478

(1,054)

(429)

336

(1,147)

2009

£’000

(2,206)

-

335

(1,871)

1,317

(554)

(192)

406

214

2009

£’000

(128,896)

(36,089)

4,563

17,526

-

(428)

781

9,706

(306)

2,376

(1,871)

(505)

1,822

(554)

Tax for other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates prevailing in the respective jurisdictions.

Factors Affecting the Current Tax Credit for the Year

The tax credit for the year is lower (2009: lower) than the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK when

applied to reported profit. The differences are explained below:
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8. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share is based on the following data:

Earnings for the purposes of basic and diluted 

earnings per share being loss for the year

Adjustment relating to exceptional and other items

Earnings for the purposes of basic 

and diluted adjusted earnings per share

2010

£’000

(20,716)

23,804

3,088

2009

£’000

(128,342)

137,542

9,200

Number of shares

Weighted average number of shares for basic earnings per share

Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares:

Share options

Weighted average number of shares for diluted earnings per share

Loss per share

Basic

Diluted

Adjusted earnings per share

Basic

Diluted

2010

Number

66,914,123

-

66,914,123

(31.0p)

(31.0p)

4.6p

4.5p

2009

Number

57,386,853

-

57,386,853

(223.6p)

(223.6p)

16.0p

16.0p

The 2009 figures have been restated to reflect the impact of the share restructuring in January 2010 (see

note 23).The number of shares used for the calculation of diluted adjusted earnings per share has been

increased by 1,252,067 to 68,166,190 to reflect the impact of dilutive share options.

9. DIVIDENDS

Amounts recognised as distributions to equity holders in the year:

Final dividend for the year ended 30 June 2009 of nil 

(2009: 6.3p) per share

Interim dividend for the year ended 30 June 2010 of nil 

(2009: nil) per share

Proposed final dividend for the year ended 30 June 2010 of nil 

(2009: nil) per share

2010

£’000

-

-

-

-

2009

£’000

3,251

-

3,251

-

10. HOLDING COMPANY INCOME STATEMENT

The directors have taken advantage of Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 and have not prepared a 
separate income statement for the Company. The consolidated profit attributable to equity shareholders includes
a profit of £13,220,000 (2009: £83,313,000 loss) attributable to the Company.
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11. GOODWILL

Cost

At 1 July 2008 

Exchange differences

Recognised on acquisition of businesses – prior year

At 1 July 2009 

Exchange differences

Recognised on acquisition of businesses – prior year

At 30 June 2010 

Accumulated impairment losses

At July 2008 

At 1 July 2009 

Impairment charge

Accumulated impairment losses at 30 June 2010 

Net book value

At 30 June 2010 

At 30 June 2009 

£’000

115,625

3,220

1,811

120,656

(134)

412

120,934

-

(77,184)

(6,920)

(84,104)

36,830

43,472

Goodwill is tested for impairment annually and whenever there are indications that it may have suffered an

impairment. Goodwill is considered impaired to the extent that its carrying amount exceeds its recoverable

amount, which is the higher of the value in use and the fair value less costs to sell of the cash generating unit

(CGU) to which it is allocated. In the impairment tests of goodwill performed in 2010, the recoverable amount

was determined based on the value in use calculations.

The value in use calculations are based on cash flow forecasts derived from the most recent one year financial

plans approved by the Board.

Cash flows for the years beyond the one year financial plans for the CGUs to which significant amounts of good-

will were allocated were calculated as follows: cash flows from years two and thereafter were projected to grow

at 2% per annum which does not exceed the long term growth rates in the principal end markets in the UK,

Republic of Ireland and Europe.

Discount rates were applied to the resulting cash flow projections that reflect current market assessments of the

time. Pre tax discount rates used in the annual impairment were 14% (2009: 14%).

During the financial period, impairments totalling £6.9m were recognised in relation to the goodwill allocated to

Ireland following further restructuring in that business. In the prior period, impairments totalling £77.2m were

recognised in relation to the goodwill allocated across all CGUs.

Management has assessed the sensitivity of the recoverable amounts to key assumptions to be as follows: a one

percentage point increase in the pre-tax discount rate of 14% would reduce the recoverable amount by

£157,000; a one percentage point fall in operating margin across all BUs would reduce the recoverable amount

by £1,974,000; and a one percentage point fall in the assumed long term growth rate of 2% would reduce the 

recoverable amount by £100,000.

The carrying values of goodwill by both primary and secondary segments are as follows:

Engineering Management Environment Ireland International Total

Services Planning Transport

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Great Britain - 12,637 24,193 - - 36,830

Ireland - - - - - -

Rest of Europe - - - - - -

Other - - - - - -

- 12,637 24,193 - - 36,830
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12. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Cost

At 1 July 2008

Additions

Exchange differences

Disposals

At 30 June 2009

Additions

Reclassifications

Impairment

Exchange differences

Disposals

At 30 June 2010

Amortisation

At 1 July 2008

Charge for the year

Exchange differences

Disposals

At 30 June 2009

Charge for the year

Exchange differences

Disposals

At 30 June 2010

Net book value

At 30 June 2010

At 30 June 2009

Order 

books

£’000

6,250

-

165

-

6,415

-

-

-

(80)

-

6,335

5,440

729

171

-

6,340

-

(5)

-

6,335

-

75

Customer

relationships

£’000

14,785

-

142

-

14,927

-

-

-

(69)

-

14,858

2,299

1,501

20

-

3,820

1,574

(109)

-

5,285

9,573

11,107

Total acquired

intangibles

£’000

21,035

-

307

-

21,342

-

-

-

(149)

-

21,193

7,739

2,230

191

-

10,160

1,574

(114)

-

11,620

9,573

11,182

Computer

software

£’000

3,795

1,021

52

(270)

4,598

261

7,488

(7,488)

(20)

(655)

4,184

1,888

1,299

69

(175)

3,081

973

(36)

(622)

3,396

788

1,517

Total

£’000

24,830

1,021

359

(270)

25,940

261

7,488

(7,488)

(169)

(655)

25,377

9,627

3,529

260

(175)

13,241

2,547

(150)

(622)

15,016

10,361

12,699

Where appropriate, intangible assets identified in business combinations have been recognised in accordance

with the provisions of IFRS 3 (Business combinations) and IAS 38 (Intangible assets). Intangible assets have

only been recognised where they have identifiable future economic benefits that are controlled by the entity, it

is probable that these benefits will flow to the entity and their fair value can be measured reliably. 

The useful lives for the intangible assets acquired during the year were assessed to be as follows:

Computer software – 3 to 5 years

Order books – 1 to 4 years

Customer relationships – 5 to 10 years

There were no intangible assets in the Company (2009: nil).
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Cost

At 1 July 2008 

Additions

Exchange differences

Reclassifications

Disposals

At 30 June 2009 

Additions

Exchange differences

Reclassifications

Disposals

At 30 June 2010 

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 July 2008 

Charge for the year

Exchange differences

Reclassifications

Disposals

At 30 June 2009 (audited)

Charge for the year

Exchange differences

Reclassifications

Disposals

At 30 June 2010 

Net book value

At 30 June 2010 

At 30 June 2009 

Short 

leasehold

improvements

£’000

9,221

1,526

50

-

(8)

10,789

621

(24)

-

(266)

11,120

2,891

3,244

31

18

(8)

6,176

1,052

(22)

-

(117)

7,089

4,031

4,613

Motor 

vehicles

£’000

2,686

213

40

(59)

(1,815)

1,065

121

(16)

-

(383)

787

1,774

138

24

(43)

(1,145)

748

129

(17)

-

(288)

572

215

317

Office 

furniture and

equipment

£’000

13,123

2,018

324

45

(363)

15,147

504

(164)

-

(2,495)

12,992

7,312

3,595

168

11

(258)

10,828

2,164

(131)

-

(1,899)

10,962

2,030

4,319

Assets under 

construction

£’000

1,464

3,141

-

-

-

4,605

2,883

-

(7,488)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

4,605

Total

£’000

26,494

6,898

414

(14)

(2,186)

31,606

4,129

(204)

(7,488)

(3,144)

24,899

11,977

6,977

223

(14)

(1,411)

17,752

3,345

(170)

-

(2,304)

18,623

6,276

13,854

At 30 June 2010, £7.5m of assets under construction relating to software development costs were transferred

to intangible assets and impaired (note 6 and 11).

The net book value of the Group’s property, plant and equipment includes an amount of £644,676 (2009:

£1,512,510) in respect of assets held under finance leases. Depreciation charged in the year on these assets

amounted to £965,040 (2009: £1,320,987).

The Company had no property, plant and equipment at either year end. 
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14. INVESTMENTS

At 1 July 2008

Impairment

At 20 June 2009, 30 June 2010

Subsidiary

WYG Engineering Limited

WYG Environment Planning Transport

Limited

WYG Management Services Limited

WYG International Limited

WYG Ireland Limited

WYG Environment and Planning

(Ireland) Limited

WYG Nolan Ryan Tweeds Limited

WYG Engineering (Ireland) Limited

WYG Engineering (NI) Limited

WYG Environmental & Planning (NI)

Limited

WYG Nolan Ryan Tweeds (NI) Limited

Cost

£’000

61,187

- 

61,187

Country of incorporation

England and Wales

England and Wales

England and Wales

England and Wales

Republic of Ireland

Republic of Ireland

Republic of Ireland

Republic of Ireland

Northern Ireland

Northern Ireland

Northern Ireland

Provision

£’000

(269)

(18,776)

(19,045)

Value

£’000

60,918

(18,776)

42,142

Company investment in subsidiary undertakings

The directors believe that the carrying value of the investments is supported by their underlying net assets.

The Group’s principal subsidiaries are:

Activity

Engineering consultants

Multi-disciplinary consultants

Multi-disciplinary consultants

Multi-disciplinary consultants

Multi-disciplinary consultants

Multi-disciplinary consultants

Multi-disciplinary consultants

Multi-disciplinary consultants

Multi-disciplinary consultants

Multi-disciplinary consultants

Multi-disciplinary consultants

The investment in all of the above companies are held through subsidiary undertakings.
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15. DEFERRED TAX

Deferred tax asset

at 1 July 2008

Deferred tax 

liability at 1 July

2008

Credit /(charge)

to income

Charge to equity

Acquisition of 

subsidiaries

Exchange 

differences 

Deferred tax asset

at 1 July 2009

Deferred tax 

liability at 1 July

2009

Credit /(charge)

to income

Charge to equity

Exchange 

differences 

Deferred tax

asset at 30

June 2010

Deferred tax 

liability at 30

June 2010

Accelerated

tax 

depreciation

£’000

33

(87)

(54)

950

-

-

-

896

896

-

896

(361)

-

-

535

535

-

535

Share -

based 

payments 

£’000

774

-

774

(582)

(192)

-

-

-

-

-

-

91

-

-

91

91

-

91

Retirement

benefit

obligations

£’000

516

-

516

(173)

406

-

-

749

749

-

749

277

57

-

1,083

1,083

-

1,083

Intangible

assets

£’000

-

(3,688)

(3,688)

505

-

-

(14)

(3,197)

-

(3,197)

(3,197)

428

-

5

(2,764)

-

(2,764)

(2,764)

Other 

temporary

differences 

£’000

610

(124)

486

(253)

-

-

-

233

338

(105)

233

(127)

-

-

106

481

(375)

106

Losses

£’000

-

-

-

9,591

-

-

-

9,591

9,591

-

9,591

2,036

-

-

11,627

11,627

-

11,627

Deferred tax

assets not

recognised

£’000

-

-

-

(11,299)

-

-

-

(11,299)

(11,299)

-

(11,299)

(2,198)

(57)

(4)

(13,558)

(13,558)

-

(13,558)

Total

£’000

1,933

(4,127)

(2,194)

(1,317)

214

-

(14)

(3,311)

275

(3,586)

(3,311)

93

-

1

(3,217)

259

(3,476)

(3,217)

Tax

deductible

goodwill 

£’000

-

(228)

(228)

(56)

-

-

-

(284)

-

(284)

(284)

(53)

-

-

(337)

-

(337)

(337)

Deferred tax assets have been recognised in respect of any significant temporary differences giving rise to

deferred tax assets where it is probable that these assets will be recovered.

At 30 June 2009, the Group had temporary differences of £416,000 relating to the unremitted earnings of over-

seas subsidiaries on which no deferred tax liability was recognised because the Group is able to control the tim-

ing of the reversal of these temporary differences and it is probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable

future. As a result of a change to UK tax legislation which largely exempts UK and overseas dividends received

on or after 1 July 2009 from UK tax, and as there are no withholding taxes arising on the payment of such divi-

dends, the temporary difference is now £nil.

The Company had no deferred tax assets or liabilities at either year end.  
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Work-in-progress

Provision

Net work-in-progress

Amounts falling due within one year

Amounts receivable on contracts

Less: provision for impairment of trade receivables

Trade receivables – net

Prepayments and accrued income

Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings

Other receivables

Between 0 and 30 days

Between 31 and 60 days

Between 61 and 120 days

Between 121 and 150 days

Between 151 and 330 days

Greater than 330 days

7733

2009

£’000

55,255

(14,066)

41,189

2009

£’000

66,627

(9,178)

57,449

3,896

-

2,731

64,076

2009

£’000

166

218

457

503

3,004

4,830

9,178

16. WORK IN PROGRESS

2010

£’000

41,255

(11,109)

30,146

2010

£’000

45,261

(10,253)

35,008

4,745

-

2,457

42,210

2010

£’000

-

-

-

139

462

9,652

10,253

The value of work in progress comprises the costs incurred on a contract plus an appropriate proportion of

overheads and attributable profit. Profit is recognised on a percentage completion basis when the outcome

of a contract or project can be reasonably foreseen. Provision is made in full for estimated losses.

17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

In 2009, a provision for impairment losses of £58,408,000 was recorded in the Company against the gross

receivables of £94,569,000 resulting in a net receivable of £36,161,000.

At 30 June 2010 trade receivables of £12,372,000 (2009: £19,289,000) were considered for potential 

impairment. The amount provided for these balances was £10,253,000 (2009: £9,178,000). The allocation 

of the provision according to invoice due date is as follows:

2010

£’000

-

-

-

2010

£’000

-

-

-

-

49,436

-

49,436

2010

£’000

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

2010

£’000

-

-

-

2009

£’000

-

-

-

-

36,161

-

36,161

2009

£’000

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Group Company

Group Company

Group Company
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At 30 June 2010 trade receivables of £16m (2009: £31.4m) were past due but not impaired. These relate to

a number of independent customers for whom there is no recent history of non-payment. The ageing analy-

sis of these trade receivables according to invoice due date is as follows:

17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES CONTINUED

Between 0 and 30 days

Between 31 and 60 days

Between 61 and 120 days

Between 121 and 150 days

Between 151 and 330 days

Greater than 330 days

Sterling

Euro

Polish Zloty

Other

At 1 July

Provision for receivables impairment

Receivables written off during the year 

as uncollectable

Exchange differences

As at 30 June

2009

£’000

10,107

6,063

4,596

1,976

5,407

3,229

31,378

2009

£’000

37,908

24,375

3,149

1,195

66,627

2009

£’000

3,486

6,164

(553)

81

9,178

2010

£’000

6,086

4,056

1,694

1,219

836

2,112

16,003

2010

£’000

26,107

15,794

1,671

1,689

45,261

2010

£’000

9,178

4,519

(3,341)

(103)

10,253

2010

£’000

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

2010

£’000

-

-

-

-

-

2010

£’000

-

-

-

-

-

2009

£’000

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

2009

£’000

-

-

-

-

-

2009

£’000

-

-

-

-

-

Group Company

At 30 June 2010 trade receivables of £19.0m (2009: £26.1m) were neither past due nor impaired.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade receivables are denominated in the following currencies:

Group Company

Movements on the Group provision for impairment of trade receivables are as follows:

Group Company

The creation and release of provision for impaired receivables have been included in operating expenses in

the income statement.

The other classes within trade and other receivables do not contain impaired assets. There is no material dif-

ference between the carrying value and the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities at the bal-

ance sheet date.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the fair value of each class of receivable men-

tioned above. The Group does not hold any collateral as security.
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18. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Amounts falling due within one year

Trade payables

Payments received on account

Social security and other taxes

Other payables

Accruals

Deferred consideration (note 20)

At June 2008

Additional provisions

Utilised during the year

At June 2009

Additional provisions

Utilised during the year

At June 2010

2009

£’000

14,372

29,619

8,214

5,107

14,310

777

72,399

£’000

-

8,968

(5,697)

3,271

4,705

(6,126)

1,850

2010

£’000

9,859

21,384

6,422

11,236

7,657

773

57,331

£’000

3,680

8,626

(2,731)

9,575

3,107

(3,598)

9,084

2010

£’000

-

-

-

-

1,295

400

1,695

£’000

-

17,210

-

17,210

2,020

(3,886)

15,344

2009

£’000

-

-

-

-

661

400

1,061

£’000

3,680

34,804

(8,428)

30,056

9,832

(13,610)

26,278

Group Company

Group

Claims     Redundancy          Vacant Total
Leasehold

19. PROVISIONS, LIABILITIES AND OTHER CHARGES

Professional indemnity claims

Provisions are made for current and estimated obligations in respect of claims made by contractors and the

general public relating to accident or other insurable risks as a result of the business activities of the Group.

These include claims held by the Group’s captive insurance company, Oakdale Insurance Company Limited. 

Redundancy

Provision is made for current estimated future costs of redundancy and ex gratia payments to be made

where this has been communicated to those employees concerned.

Vacant properties

The group has a number of vacant leasehold properties, with the majority of the head leases expiring within

the next five years. Provision has been made for the residual lease commitments together with other outgo-

ings, after taking into account assumptions relating to later periods of vacancy.

There were no other provisions, liabilities and other charges held by the Company.
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20. DEFERRED CONSIDERATION

At 1 July

Amounts settled in cash/loan notes

Released to goodwill

Exchange differences

Arising on acquisitions in the year

Arising on acquisitions made in previous years

At 30 June

Current

Bank overdrafts

Obligations under finance leases

Non-current

Bank loans

Obligations under finance leases

Financial liabilities are repayable as follows:

On demand or within one year

In the second year

In the third to fifth years inclusive

30 June 2010

Bank overdrafts

Bank loans

Obligations under finance leases

30 June 2009

Bank overdrafts

Bank loans

Obligations under finance leases

2009

£’000

6,872

(5,514)

(400)

46

-

(227)

777

2009

£’000

6,447

851

7,298

88,485

461

88,946

7,298

431

88,515

96,244

Euros

£’000

23

16,680

-

16,703

566

28,485

-

29,051

2010

£’000

777

-

-

(4)

-

-

773

2010

£’000

25

509

534

48,719

76

48,795

534

76

48,719

49,329

Sterling

£’000

2

32,039

585

32,626

5,881

60,000

1,312

67,193

2010

£’000

400

-

-

-

-

-

400

2010

£’000

-

-

-

48,543

-

48,543

-

-

48,543

48,543

Total

£’000

25

48,719

585

49,329

6,447

88,485

1,312

96,244

2009

£’000

6,314

(5,514)

(400)

-

-

-

400

2009

£’000

-

-

-

88,256

-

88,256

-

-

88,256

88,256

Group Company

Deferred consideration is in respect of acquisitions for which part of the consideration is payable during future

accounting periods in the form of shares or cash or loan notes, the majority of which is dependent on perform-

ance.

21. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Group Company

7766

Analysis of financial liabilities by currency:
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Analysis of financial liabilities by currency continued
The fair value of the Group’s lease obligations approximates their carrying amount and the present value of

minimum lease payments does not differ materially to the minimum lease payments.

Obligations under finance leases comprise gross rental payments of £0.7m (2009: £1.5m) and future finance

charges of £0.1m (2009: £0.2m).

The Group’s obligations under finance leases are secured by the lessors’ charges over the leased assets.

The Group has issued bonds and guarantees to WYG International to the value of £22,936,000 (2009:

£30,978,000) in the ordinary course of business. No liability is expected to arise from these bonds and guaran-

tees.

The Group is exposed to a number of different market risks in the normal course of business including foreign

currency risks, interest rate risks and credit risks.

Risk management is carried out by Group Treasury under policies approved by the Board of directors. These

principles are embedded in the Group Treasury and Cash Management Operating Guidelines and Procedures.

The Board provides written principles for overall risk management, as well as written policies covering specific

areas, such as currency exposure management, interest rate risk, working capital control and investment of

excess liquidity. 

Under IFRS 7, ‘Financial instruments: Disclosures’, all derivative financial instruments are classed as Level 2 as

they are not traded in an active market and the fair value is therefore determined through discounting future

cash flows.

Foreign Currency Risk
The Group’s overall risk management programme seeks to minimise potential adverse affects on the Group’s

financial performance, using derivative financial instruments to hedge certain exposures. Policy is to manage

centrally the Group’s liquidity, funding and exposure to foreign currency risk in a manner which ensures

straightforward administration, minimisation of risk and operational flexibility.

The Group has certain investments in foreign operations, where the net assets are exposed to foreign currency

translation risk. The Group hedges its long term investments in overseas assets through a loan of €20.0m with

Lloyds TSB Bank plc, Fortis Bank and the Royal Bank of Scotland plc.

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk on sales, purchases and borrowings that are denominated in cur-

rencies other than Sterling. The currency giving rise to this risk is primarily the Euro, though most of the

Group’s trading is denominated in the currencies relevant to the local subsidiaries, thus matching the currency

with its cost base. As a result the Group does not hedge everyday foreign currency transactions.

The table below shows the extent to which Group companies have monetary assets and liabilities in currencies

other than the local functional currency:

22. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
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22. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CONTINUED

Sterling

Euro

US Dollar

Polish Zloty

Turkish Lira

Russian Rouble

Other

Euro

2010

£’000

43

-

119

2,435

(16)

900

1,862

5,343

Sterling

2010

£’000

-

(11,709)

-

-

-

-

-

(11,709)

Sterling

2009

£’000

-

(17,415)

-

-

-

-

-

(17,415)

Euro

2009

£’000

338

-

630

2,612

46

183

1,044

4,853

Functional currency of Group operations

At 30 June 2010 if Sterling had weakened/strengthened by 10% against the Euro, with all other variables held

constant, post-tax profit for the year would not have been affected significantly as there is typically minimal Euro

invoicing performed by those entities which report in Sterling, and all foreign exchange gains/losses arising on

Euro denominated borrowings are hedged.

Credit Risk
Credit risk arises from deposits with banks and credit exposure to customers, including outstanding receivables

and invoiced work performed for these parties.

Group policy for cash deposits is that only banks and institutions with an independently determined short-term

credit rating of A1 and a long term credit rating of at least AA- (under Standard & Poors’ definitions) are used

for investments.

The Group has a customer credit policy in place and the exposure to credit risk is monitored on an ongoing

basis. At 30 June 2010 there were no significant concentrations of credit risk. The maximum exposure to credit

risk is the carrying amount of each financial asset included on the balance sheet.

Cash Flow and Interest Rate Risk
The Group’s interest rate risk arises from long term borrowings. Group policy is to monitor interest rate exposure

on semi floating rate debt, with interest rate swaps and caps maintained through separate financial instruments

on approximately 50% of its total long term borrowings.

The Group has agreed bank facilities with Lloyds TSB Bank plc, Fortis Bank and the Royal Bank of Scotland plc.

The facilities are secured on the assets of the Group and comprised a total loan facility of £50.0m and a commit-

ted working capital facilities of £8.25m. 

All facilities are repayable in January 2013. Sterling denominated loans bear interest at rates between 2.5% -

10% above LIBOR and the Euro denominated loans at rates between 4.25% - 5% above LIBOR. At the year end

the Group’s bank loans totalled £48.7m (2009: £88.5m), this comprises Sterling loans of £32m and Euro loans of

€20.2m. The Group’s overdraft balance was £25,000 (2009: £6.4m) and the Group also had cash balances of

£15.5m (2009: £10.9m).
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The Group has agreed a committed facility with Lloyds TSB Asset Finance, secured on related assets. At 30 June

2010 £0.6m (2009: £1.3m) of finance leases were drawn down.

The Group has entered into the following interest rate caps to cap the Group’s exposure to interest rate risk as 

specified below:

22. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CONTINUED

Capped period

2 Years

3 Years

3 Years

Institution

Lloyds TSB Bank plc

Lloyds TSB Bank plc

Fortis Bank

Trade date

July 2008

December 2007

July 2008

Fixed rate margin

EURIBOR +5.00%

EURIBOR +4.50%

EURIBOR +5.00%

Notional amount

€10m

€5m

€20m

The fair value of the interest rate caps entered into at 30 June 2010 is estimated at £ Nil (2009: £13,000).

These amounts are based on marked-to-market valuations provided by the issuer of each instrument. 

The Group has entered into the following interest rate swaps to hedge the Group’s exposure to interest rate risk

as specified below:

Capped period

3 Years

3 Years

3 Years

3 Years

3 Years

3 Years

Institution

Lloyds TSB Bank plc

Lloyds TSB Bank plc

RBS

RBS

Fortis Bank

Fortis Bank

Trade date

January 2010

January 2010

January 2010

January 2010

January 2010

January 2010

Fixed rate margin

EURIBOR +1.6%

LIBOR +1.5%

EURIBOR +1.6%

LIBOR +1.5%

EURIBOR +1.6%

LIBOR +1.5%

Notional amount

€4.2m

£6.7m

€2.2m

£3.6m

€3.6m

£5.9m

The fair value of the interest rate swaps at 30 June 2010 is estimated at a loss of £772,000 (see note 5). This

has been recognised in full in the Income Statement.

Floating rate 

liabilities

2010

£’000

32,041

16,703

48,744

Fixed rate 

liabilities

2010

£’000

585

-

585

Total

2010

£’000

32,626

16,703

49,329

Floating rate 

liabilities

2009

£’000

65,881

29,051

94,932

Fixed rate 

liabilities

2009

£’000

1,312

-

1,312

Total

2009

£’000

67,193

29,051

96,244

Sterling

Euro

The weighted average interest rate for fixed rate borrowings was 4.8% (2009: 4.8%) and the weighted average

period to maturity was 29 months (2009: 16 months).

At 30 June 2010, if interest rates had been 300 basis-points higher/lower for the full financial year, with all other

variables held constant, this would have resulted in a reduction to post-tax profits of £1.3m (2009: £1.7m), or

increase in post-tax profits of £1.5m (2009: £1.9m) respectively.

Fair Values
The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities of the Group are considered to be materially equivalent to

their book value. Fair values have been calculated by reference to cash flows discounted at prevailing interest

rates.
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22. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CONTINUED

Gross undiscounted cash flows
An analysis of undiscounted contractual maturities for non derivative financial liabilities is set out below.

Within 1 year

£’000

(84,427)

(1,705)

(26)

(573)

(86,731)

(103,405)

(3,097)

(6,673)

(1,004)

(114,179)

At 30 June 2010

Trade and other payables

Bank loans

Bank overdrafts

Finance leases

At 30 June 2009

Trade and other payables

Bank loans

Bank overdrafts

Finance leases

1 to 2 years

£’000

-

(3,410)

-

(85)

(3,495)

-

(6,194)

-

(508)

(6,702)

2 to 5 years

£’000

-

(50,425)

-

-

(50,425)

-

(91,582)

-

(36)

(91,618)

Total contractual

maturity 

£’000

(84,427)

(55,540)

(26)

(658)

(140,651)

(103,405)

(100,873)

(6,673)

(1,548)

(212,499)

23. SHARE CAPITAL

Issued and fully paid:

Ordinary:

52,964,456 ordinary shares of 5p each

52,964,456 deferred ordinary shares of 4p each

35,289,886 new ordinary shares of 10p each

2010

£’000

-

2,119

3,529

5,648

8800

2009

£’000

2,648

-

-

2,648
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As a result of the restructuring that took place on 8 January 2010, the share reorganisation is reflected as

follows:

Ordinary shares

At 1 July 2008

Executive options

Reclassification

At 30 June 2009

At 1 July 2009

Sub division of shares

Share consolidation

New ordinary shares 

issued to the lenders

New ordinary shares 

issued to the Employee Benefit Trust

At 30 June 2010

Preference shares

At 1 July 2008 and 2009

‘A’ preference shares issued to the lenders

‘B’ preference shares issued to the Employee Benefit Trust

At 30 June 2010

Merger 

reserve 

£’000s

51,599

-

(33,699)

17,900

17,900

-

-

-

-

17,900

Preference share

capital £’000s

-

18,016

1,424

19,440

Share 

premium 

£’000s

21,614

710

-

22,324

22,324

-

-

11,108

4,488

37,920

Share 

capital

£’000s

2,583

65

-

2,648

2,648

-

-

2,136

864

5,648

Par 

Value

5p

5p

-

-

-

10p

10p

Number of

shares in

issue

51,664,456

1,300,000

-

52,964,456

52,964,456

52,964,456

(47,668,011)

21,362,330

8,631,111

88,254,342

Number of shares

in issue

-

27,600,000

2,400,000

30,000,000

Share Capital Restructuring
During the financial year each ordinary share has been subdivided into one new ordinary share of one penny

nominal value and one deferred share of four pence nominal value. The deferred shares have no voting or

dividend rights and, on a return of capital, will have the right to receive the amount paid up only in very 

limited circumstances.

Subsequent to this subdivision the new ordinary shares were consolidated into ordinary shares of ten pence

each on the basis of one post consolidation ordinary share for every ten ordinary shares.

Debt for Equity Swap
On 8 January 2010, the Group announced a restructuring of its existing borrowing facilities of £109.1m with

its lenders. The transaction resulted in total drawn borrowings of £92.6m being restructured as new borrow-

ings of £39.7m (with a total new facility of £58.2m) and an equity component (the conversion of £52.9m of

the Group’s indebtedness) consisting of new ordinary shares and preference shares.

8811

23. SHARE CAPITAL CONTINUED
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The principal terms of the restructuring, were as follows:

� The conversion of borrowings of £22.9m in exchange for 29,993,441 new ordinary shares. Of these, 

� 21,362,330 shares were issued directly to lenders, with 8,631,111 shares issued to the new Employee Benefit

� Trust (EBT) under direction of the lenders.

� The conversion of borrowings of £30.0m in return for 27.6m 'A' preference shares with a nominal value of 

� £27.6m and 2.4m 'B'’ preference shares with a nominal value of £2.4m.The lenders were issued 'A' shares and

� have directed the Group to issue the 'B' shares to the new EBT.

Preference Shares
As described above, preference shares with a nominal value of £30.0m were issued by the Group as part of the

re-financing process. The key terms of the preference shares are as follows;

� The redemption of the preference shares is at the Group’s sole discretion;

� The holders of the preference shares are entitled to a premium on redemption on nominal value – a 10% 

� premium is payable if the shares are redeemed in the first three years after issuance, a 30% premium is

� payable if redemption occurs in year four and a 50% premium is payable if redemption occurs in year five or

� thereafter;

� Dividends are only payable on the preference shares if the Group declares ordinary dividends. In this case, 

� the holders are entitled to a dividend equal to one per cent of the ordinary dividend. The Group is unable to

� pay an ordinary dividend until it has first paid the preference dividend;

� The preference shares carry no voting rights;

� On wind up, repayment of the preference shares up to their nominal value ranks ahead of repayment of any

� amounts to the ordinary shareholders.

The preference shares issued as part of the re-financing have been recorded as equity.

Gain on debt for equity swap
The Group has recognised an exceptional gain of £14.9m in the year ending 30 June 2010, representing the dif-

ference between the carrying value of £52.9m of the borrowings converted and the fair value of £38.0m of the

ordinary and preference shares issued to the lenders at the date of the debt for equity swap.

The gain on conversion includes the value of the 8,631,111 ordinary shares and the ‘B’ preference shares issued

to the new EBT as the substance of the transaction is a transfer of these shares to the bank in its capacity as a

lender, followed by a contribution of the shares to the EBT by the bank in its new capacity as a shareholder.

In calculating the fair value of the preference shares of £19.4m, management has assumed that they will be

redeemed within three years and that a 10% redemption premium will be payable. 

This cash outflow of £33.0m has been discounted at 19% which represents an appropriate discount rate for this

class of share. The valuation of the ordinary shares has been calculated based on the closing share price of

£0.62 at the date on which the transaction was approved resulting in a fair value of £18.6m.

23. SHARE CAPITAL CONTINUED
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24. RESERVES

Group 

At 1 July 

Retained loss for

the year

Transfers

Dividends

Actuarial loss on

defined benefit

pension schemes

Tax on items

taken directly to

equity

Currency 

translation 

differences

Losses on cash

flow hedges

Premium on issue

of shares

Debt 

restructuring

Share based 

payments

At 30 June 

Retained 

earnings

£’000

(62,579)

(20,716)

-

-

(204)

57

-

-

-

-

325

(83,117)

Currency

translation 

reserve

£’000

2,985

-

-

-

-

-

348

-

-

-

-

3,333

Share 

premium

£’000

22,324

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

15,596

-

37,920

Merger

reserve

£’000

17,900

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

17,900

Retained 

earnings

£’000

38,974

(128,342)

33,699

(3,251)

(1,449)

214

-

-

-

-

(2,424)

(62,579)

Currency

translation 

reserve

£’000

5,616

-

-

-

-

-

(2,138)

(493)

-

-

-

2,985

Share 

premuim

£’000

21,614

-

-

-

-

-

-

710

-

-

22,324

Merger

reserve

£’000

51,599

-

(33,699)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

17,900

2010 2009

Treasury shares of £7.5m (2009: £0.7m) have been netted against retained earnings representing shares held by

the Employee Benefit Trust.
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24. RESERVES CONTINUED

Company 

At 1 July 

Retained

profit/(loss) 

for the year

Transfers

Dividends

Loss on cash flow

hedges

Currency 

translation 

differences

Premium on issue

of shares

Debt 

restructuring

Share based 

payments

At 30 June 

Retained 

earnings

£’000

(53,745)

13,220

-

-

-

-

-

-

325

(40,200)

Currency

translation 

reserve

£’000

13

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

13

Share 

premium

£’000

22,324

-

-

-

-

-

-

15,596

-

37,920

Merger

reserve

£’000

17,900

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

17,900

Retained 

earnings

£’000

1,544

(83,313)

33,699

(3,251)

-

-

-

-

(2,424)

(53,745)

Currency

translation 

reserve

£’000

506

-

-

-

(493)

-

-

-

-

13

Share 

premium

£’000

21,614

-

-

-

-

-

710

-

-

22,324

Merger

reserve

£’000

51,599

-

(33,699)

-

-

-

-

-

-

17,900

2010 2009

Retained earnings include shares held by the WYG plc Employee Benefit Trust (“EBT”) and the QUEST. All costs

relating to the EBT and the QUEST are dealt with in the income statement as they accrue and both have waived

their rights to receive dividends on the shares they hold. 

25. STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

2010

£’000

(20,716)

348

(204)

-

325

18,596

19,440

57

-

17,846

(16,722)

1,124

(Loss)/profit attributable to equity shareholders

Net exchange adjustments offset in reserves net of tax

Actuarial losses on defined benefit pension schemes

Loss on cash flow hedges

Share-based payments

New ordinary shares

Preference share capital

Tax on items taken directly to equity

Equity dividends paid

Net addition/(reduction from) to shareholders’

equity

Equity attributable to equity shareholders at beginning

of year

Equity/(deficit) attributable to equity 

shareholders at end of year

2009

£’000

(128,342)

(2,138)

(1,449)

(493)

(2,424)

775

-

214

(3,251)

(137,108)

120,386

(16,722)

2010

£’000

13,220

-

-

-

325

18,596

19,440

-

-

51,581

(10,860)

40,721

2009

£’000

(83,313)

-

-

(493)

(2,424)

775

-

-

(3,251)

(88,706)

77,846

(10,860)

Group Company
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26. CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS

2009

£’000

(123,654)

6,977

3,529

-

77,184

-

201

(1,648)

(37,411)

8,818

22,267

18,780

12,454

(5,322)

-

(435)

6,697

(Loss)/profit from operations

Adjustments for:

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

Amortisation of intangible assets

Impairment of intangible assets

Impairment of goodwill/investments

Gain on debt restructuring

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment

Share options charge/(credit)

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital

Decrease in work in progress

Decrease/(increase) in receivables

(Decrease)/increase in payables

Cash generated from/(used in) operations

Interest paid

Transaction fees

Tax received/(paid)

Net cash generated from/(used in) operating activities

Cash and cash equivalents

Bank overdrafts

Bank loans due after one year

Finance leases and hire purchase contracts

Net debt

Add back cash in restricted access accounts

Unrestricted net debt

2010

£’000

(10,163)

3,345

2,547

7,488

6,920

(14,854)

875

325

(3,517)

10,037

19,220

(16,258)

9,482

(3,998)

(6,524)

3,388

2,348

27. ANALYSIS OF CHANGES IN NET DEBT

Other non-

cash items

£’000

-

-

53,925

(77)

53,848

-

53,848

Cash

flows

£’000

4,555

6,422

(14,159)

804

(2,378)

601

(1,777)

At 1 July

2009

£’000

10,896

(6,447)

(88,485)

(1,312)

(85,348)

(3,360)

(88,708)

The net debt has been restated to show restricted balances held in Oakdale Insurance Company Limited and

WYG International Limited.

Other non-cash movements represent currency exchange differences, the debt for equity swap and finance

lease creditor movements.

2009

£’000

(77,941)

-

-

-

77,184

-

-

-

(757)

-

8,854

-

8,097

-

-

-

8,097

2010

£’000

14,428

-

-

-

-

(14,854)

-

325

(101)

-

(13,324)

-

(13,425)

(778)

-

-

(14,203)

Group Company

At 30 June 

2010

£’000

15,451

(25)

(48,719)

(585)

(33,878)

(2,759)

(36,637)
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28. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND GUARANTEES
The Company and its subsidiary undertakings cross guarantee to the Group’s principal bankers the overdrafts, if

any, of each Company covered by the guarantee. At 30 June 2010 the Group’s overdrafts amounted to £25,000

(2009: £6,447,000).

The Group has issued bonds and guarantees to WYG International to the value of £22,936,000 (2009:

£30,978,000) in the ordinary course of business. No liability is expected to arise from these bonds and guaran-

tees.

29. FINANCIAL COMMITMENTS
At 30 June 2010, the Group had capital commitments outstanding of £nil (2009: £nil). The Company had no

capital commitments at either year end.

At 30 June 2010, the Group had outstanding commitments for future minimum lease payments under non-can-

cellable operating leases, which fall due as follows:

Land and 

buildings

£’000

5,842

16,637

6,085

28,564

Within one year

In the second to fifth years inclusive

After five years

Other

£’000

1,371

1,050

-

2,421

Land and 

buildings

£’000

6,744

18,194

13,593

38,531

Other

£’000

2,032

2,215

-

4,247

2010 2009

The Company had such commitments at either year end. Leases of land and buildings are typically subject to

rent review every five years. 

30. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS
At 30 June 2010 outstanding options and awards to subscribe for ordinary shares of 10p each and preference

shares in the Company, granted in accordance with the rules of the relevant share option schemes, the Invested

Bonus Plan and the LTIP were as follows:

Exercise or vesting date

WYG plc Executive

Share Option 

Scheme (1996)

17.03.2003 – 17.03.2010

11.04.2004 – 11.04.2011

09.07.2006 – 09.07.2013

WYG plc LTIP

04.10.2009

10.10.2010

16.04.2012

Exercise

price

183.5p

201.0p

152.5p

0.0p

0.0p

0.0p

At 1 July

2009

20,500

57,000

90,000

167,500

216,065

404,409

900,000

1,520,474

1,687,974

Awarded

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Exercised

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Lapsed

(20,500)

(12,500)

(40,000)

(73,000)

(216,065)

(404,409)

-

(620,474)

(693,474)

At 30

June

2010

-

44,500

50,000

94,500

-

-

56,791*

56,791

151,291

Exercisable

at 30 June

2009

20,500

57,000

90,000

167,500

-

-

-

-

167,500

Exercisable

at 30 June

2010

-

44,500

50,000

94,500

-

-

-

-

94,500

* The trustee adjusted the number of shares awarded under the LTIP to take account of the share reconstruc-

tion that took place shortly after 6 January 2010. Prior to this on 8 December 2009 Paul Hamer surrendered

184,490 shares and David Wilton surrendered 147,591 shares held under the LTIP.
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30. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS CONTINUED

Exercise or vesting date

WYG Joint Share

Ownership Plan 

2009 ‘JSOP’

1.04.2010 – 1.04.2013

WYG Performance

Share Plan 2009 ‘PSP’ 

‘B’ Preference shares 

13.01.10 – 13.01.13

Ordinary shares

30.03.2010 – 30.03.2013

Exercise

price

40.2p

Nil

34.75p

At 1 July

2009

-

-

-

-

-

Awarded

3,676,219

3,676,219

2,400,000

4,448,250

6,848,250

Exercised

-

-

-

-

-

Lapsed

-

-

-

(91,500)

(91,500)

At 30

June 2010

3,676,219

3,676,219

2,400,000

4,356,750

6,756,750

Exercisable

at 30 June

2009

-

-

-

-

-

Exercisable

at 30 June

2010

-

-

-

-

-

Share Options
The WYG plc Executive Share Option Scheme (1996) was previously available to executive directors and other

senior management, though now no new options are to be granted under this scheme. All options are exercis-

able within a period of three to ten years from the date of grant provided the growth in earnings per share over

the three year period from the date of grant exceeds the increase in RPI by 6%. If the options remain unexer-

cised after a period of ten years from the date of grant, the options expire. Furthermore, options are forfeited if

the employee leaves the Group before the options vest. The Group has no legal or constructive obligation to

repurchase or settle the options in cash.

At the Extraordinary General Meeting on 6 January 2010, shareholders approved the WYG plc Performance

Share Plan 2009 (“the PSP”) and the WYG plc Joint Share Ownership Plan 2009 (“the JSOP”) and the grant of

awards to employees. 

Awards granted under the PSP may take the form of:

� An option to acquire ‘B’ preference shares for nil consideration

� An option to acquire ordinary shares for a consideration equal to market value at the date of grant

No performance criteria is attached to awards made under the PSP. If the options remain unexercised after a

period of ten years from the date of grant, the options expire. Furthermore options are forfeited if the employee

leaves the Group before the options vest. The Group has no legal or constructive obligation to repurchase or

settle the options in cash.

Awards under the JSOP take the form of a transfer of ordinary shares from the trustee of the Employee Benefit

Trust into Joint ownership between the eligible employee and that same trustee. In normal circumstances the

award holder will have the opportunity to realise value from the JSOP award on the third anniversary of the date

of grant or thereafter. No performance target applies to these awards. The valuation of awards under the JSOP

was calculated using the Black Scholes pricing model.

The options outstanding at 30 June 2010 had a weighted average exercise price of 37.8p (2009: 173.6p) and a

weighted average remaining contractual life of 2.9 years (2009: 2.8 years).
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Share options granted since 7 November 2002, which had not vested by 1 January 2005, attract a charge under

IFRS. The fair value of these share options has been calculated using the Black-Scholes pricing model. 

LTIP 
The WYG plc LTIP was established for the benefit of its executive directors and senior management, but is no

longer operated. The WYG plc Employee Benefit Trust (“EBT”) holds shares in the Company to meet commit-

ments granted to employees under the terms of the LTIP.

The rights to acquire shares are exercisable after a period of three years from the date of grant. The perform-

ance criteria of the LTIP awards with vesting dates between 12 October 2008 and 10 October 2010 are based

on the growth of the Group’s normalised EPS over a three year period compared to the percentage increase in

RPI over the same period. The performance criteria of the LTIP award with a vesting date of 16 April 2012 is

based on the Company reaching a share price target over a performance period, measured by reference to the

average share price over the period from 16 March 2012 to 16 April 2012. 

Furthermore, rights for the LTIP are forfeited if the employee leaves the Group of their own accord before the

rights vest.

Employee Benefit Trust
At 30 June 2010 the EBT held 4,853,149 (2009: 1,175,346) ordinary shares with a cost of £3,605,000 (2009:

£668,000) and a market value of £1,820,000 (2009: £272,000), 1,152,274 (2009: nil) deferred ordinary shares;

and 2,400,000 (2009: nil) B preference shares. The EBT has received interest free loans from the Company to

finance the acquisition of these shares.

The Company also operates a QUEST, a discretionary trust established for the benefit of the employees of the

Group. At 30 June 2009 the QUEST held 3,957 (2009: 3,957) shares with a cost of £3,000 (2009: £3,000) and a

market value of £1,000 (2009: £13,000).

During the year the Group recognised total charges of £324,000 (2009: £1,645,000 credits) related to equity-

settled share-based payment transactions. The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for equity-

settled share-based payments exercised during the year was 97.1p (2009: 78.9p).

31. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

Defined Contribution Schemes
The Group operates a defined contribution retirement benefit scheme for all UK qualifying employees with

Scottish Equitable Plc. The assets of the schemes are held separately from those of the Group in funds under

the control of trustees.

The total cost charged to income of £3,266,000 (2009: £3,644,000) represents contributions payable to these

30. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS CONTINUED
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schemes by the Group at rates specified in the rules of the plan. As at 30 June 2010, contributions of £219,000

(2009: £271,000) due in respect of the current reporting period had not been paid over to the scheme.

Defined Benefit Schemes
The Group is in the process of winding up a former defined benefit scheme. The White Young Consulting Group

Limited Retirement Benefit Plan (1986) (“the 1986 Plan”) was a funded defined benefit scheme providing bene-

fits based on final pensionable pay. The scheme was discontinued on 31 August 1996 and treated as paid up.

The latest independent actuarial valuation was prepared at 30 June 2005, when the market value of the assets

was £1.2m. The accrued liabilities totalled £1.6m and as such the assets were sufficient to cover 77% of its

accrued liabilities.

The deficit arising under the MFR has been considered by the scheme actuary, the scheme trustees and the

Group. Group contributions to the 1986 Plan in the year were £nil (2009: £nil). The liabilities of £1.8m as at 30

June 2010 represent the remaining associated wind-up costs of the Plan.

The WYD scheme is a funded defined benefit scheme and was established to allow the restructure of employer’s

pension arrangements for scheme members. The latest independent actuarial valuation for the WYD Pension

Scheme was prepared at 1 July 2005, when the market value of the assets was £2.8m. The accrued liabilities

totalled £7.3m. Group contributions to the WYD scheme in the year were £646,000 (2009: £600,000).

For the purposes of IAS 19 disclosures, the WYD scheme is disclosed based upon the most recent actuarial valu-

ation at 1 July 2005, updated to take account of the requirements of IAS 19 in order to assess the liabilities of

the scheme at 30 June 2010. The 1986 Plan is disclosed based on the debt on the employer and associated

wind-up costs as discussed above. 

The two schemes give rise to an overall net pension liability at 30 June 2010 of £3.9m (2009: £4.1m) 

as follows:

Amounts recognised in income in respect of these defined benefit schemes are as follows:

Of the charge for the year, a credit of £197,000 (2009: £264,000) has been included in operating expenses and

a charge of £406,000 (2009: £370,000) has been included in finance costs. Actuarial gains and losses have been

reported in the Statement of Recognised Income and Expense.

Key assumptions used:

Discount rate

Expected rate of salary increases

Future pension increases

Inflation

Life expectancy at age 65:

Men

Women

2010

%

5.3

N/A

3.4

3.4

88.9

91.3

2009

%

6.2

N/A

3.7

3.7

88.8

91.2

Current service cost

Interest cost

Expected return on scheme assets

2010

£’000

(55)

(406)

252

(209)

2009

£’000

(12)

(370)

276

(106)

31. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES CONTINUED
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31. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES CONTINUED

Present value of defined benefit obligations (WYD Scheme)

Fair value of scheme assets (WYD Scheme)

Liability recognised in the balance sheet (WYD Scheme)

Other pension liabilities

2010

£’000

(7,117)

5,044

(2,073)

(1,839)

(3,912)

2009

£’000

(6,780)

4,474

(2,306)

(1,820)

(4,126)

The amount included in the balance sheet arising from the Group’s obligations in respect of its defined benefit

retirement benefit schemes is as follows:

Movements in the present value of defined benefit obligations in the current period were as follows:

Movements in the present value of fair value of scheme assets in the current period were as follows:

The analysis of the scheme assets and the expected rate of return at the balance sheet date was as follows:

The overall expected rate of return is based on the weighted average return on each asset category out of the

total assets held in each plan.

At 1 July

Service cost

Interest cost

Actuarial losses

Benefits paid 

Charges paid

At 30 June

2010

£’000

(6,780)

(55)

(406)

(386)

455

55

(7,117)

2009

£’000

(5,638)

(12)

(370)

(1,019)

247

12

(6,780)

At 1 July

Expected return on scheme assets

Actuarial gains/(losses)

Contributions from the sponsoring companies

Benefits paid 

Charges paid

At 30 June

2010

£’000

4,474

252

182

646

(455)

(55)

5,044

2009

£’000

4,248

276

(391)

600

(247)

(12)

4,474

Equity instruments

Fixed interest instruments

Other assets

2010

%

8.8

4.1

5.3

5.8

2009

%

8.1

4.3

6.2

5.8

Expected return Fair value of assets

2010

£’000

1,354

2,436

1,254

5,044

2009

£’000

1,596

2,548

330

4,474

wygSECT 5 numbers  3/11/10  17:05  Page 46



The five year history of experience adjustments is as follows:

The estimated amounts of contributions expected to be paid to the schemes during the current financial year is

£646,000.

The 1986 Plan is not included in the 2010 experience history as the liability disclosed at 30 June 2010 represents

the remaining associated wind-up costs of the Plan.

32. EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE
There have been no significant events since the balance sheet date. 

33. RELATED PARTIES
The Group is ultimately controlled by its lenders who have an overall holding of 60.5% spread amongst syndi-

cate members consisting of Lloyds TSB Banking Group 25.1%, Royal Bank of Scotland 13.4% and Fortis 22.0%.

Transactions with the lenders are disclosed in notes 5, 21, 22 and 23.

Company

Funds are transferred within the Group, dependent on the operational needs of individual companies. Balances

owed by other Group undertakings are shown in note 17 to the accounts.

9911

31. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES CONTINUED

Present value of defined benefit obligations

Fair value of scheme assets

Deficit in the schemes

Experience adjustments on scheme liabilities:

Amount (£’000)

Percentage of scheme liabilities (%)

Experience adjustments on scheme assets:

Amount (£’000)

Percentage of scheme assets (%)

2010

£’000

(7,117)

5,044

(2,073)

138

2%

(11)

-

2009

£’000

(6,780)

4,474

(2,306)

327

5%

(391)

9%

2008

£’000

(5,638)

4,248

(1,390)

142

3%

(400)

9%

2007

£’000

(6,766)

4,299

(2,467)

66

1%

260

5%

2006

£’000

(9,201)

4,950

(4,251)

116

1%

(23)

-
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15.  Guidance for Shareholders

The AGM of WYG plc will be held at the Company’s registered office at Arndale Court, Otley Road, Headingley,

Leeds LS6 2UJ on 10 December 2010 at 2pm. As part of the Group’s commitment to communicate more clearly

with shareholders, we have set out below explanations of the business to be dealt with at the AGM.

RESOLUTIONS 1 TO 6: ORDINARY BUSINESS

Resolutions 1 to 6 are proposed as ordinary resolutions. This means that for each of those resolutions to be

passed, more than half of the votes cast must be in favour of the resolution.

Resolution 1: Report and Accounts

The Directors are required to present to the meeting the accounts and the Directors and Auditors’ Reports for

the year ended 30 June 2010.

Resolution 2: Directors’ Remuneration Report

The Directors have elected to present to the meeting the Directors’ Remuneration Report for the year ended 30

June 2010.

Resolution 3: Appointment of Directors

The Company’s Articles of Association require that any director appointed during the year shall hold office only

until the next AGM and shall then be eligible for election. In accordance with this rule, David Jeffcoat is seeking

election at this meeting.

A profile of David Jeffcoat is provided in the Annual Report on page 24.

Resolutions 4 and 5: Re-appointment of Directors

The Company’s Articles of Association require one third of the Directors for the time being or, if their number is

not three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not more than one third, to retire from office at

every annual general meeting. In accordance with this rule, Paul Hamer and Graham Olver are retiring by rota-

tion, and being eligible, are seeking re-election at this meeting.

Profiles of Paul Hamer and Graham Olver are provided in the Annual Report on page 24.

Resolution 6: Re-appointment and Remuneration of Auditors

The Company is required to appoint auditors at each meeting when accounts are presented. Resolution 6 pro-

poses the re-appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP and follows standard practice in giving authority to

the Board to determine the remuneration of the auditors.

RESOLUTION 7: Special Business

Resolution 7 is proposed as a special resolution. This means that for this resolution to be passed, at least three-

quarters of the votes cast must be in favour of the resolution.

Resolution 7: Market Purchase of Own Shares

In certain circumstances it may be advantageous for the Company to purchase its own shares and this resolu-

tion seeks authority to do this. The Directors would only consider making purchases if they believed that such

purchases would be in the best interests of the Company and its shareholders generally, having regard to the
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effect on earnings per share. When suitable opportunities arise, it is the Board’s intention to exercise this

authority, but only after taking into consideration these principles and so that no purchases will be made which

would effectively alter the control of the Company without the prior approval of shareholders in general meet-

ing.

The resolution gives general authority for the Company to make purchases of up to 3,528,988 ordinary shares

(being 10% of the Company’s ordinary share capital in issue at 30 October 2010). The minimum price and the

method of determining the maximum price which may be paid for an ordinary share is set out in the resolution.

Companies are permitted to retain any of their own shares which they have purchased as treasury stock with a

view to possible re-issue at a future date, rather than cancelling them. The Company will consider holding any

of its own shares that it purchases pursuant to the authority conferred by this resolution as treasury stock. This

would give the Company the ability to re-issue treasury shares quickly and cost-effectively, and would provide

the Company with additional flexibility in the management of its capital base.

ACTION TO BE TAKEN

Enclosed is a form of proxy for use at the AGM. If you do not intend to be present at the AGM, please complete,

sign and return the proxy form as soon as possible. In order for it to be valid, it must be received by the

Registrars no later than 2pm on 8 December 2010. Any alterations made to this form should be initialled. A

proxy may also be appointed by registering electronically by logging onto www.capitashareportal.com. Full

details of the procedure are given on that website.

If you are appointing more than one proxy you must indicate the number of shares in respect of which you are

making this appointment, you should include the number in the box provided for your first named proxy and

either obtain (an) additional proxy form(s) from the Registrars (+44 (0) 870 1623100) or you may photocopy

this form. Please return all the forms together and tick the box to indicate each form is one of multiple instruc-

tions being given. Please take care when completing the number of shares; if the total number of shares

exceeds the total being held by the member, all appointments may be invalid.

The right to appoint a proxy does not apply to persons whose shares are held on their behalf by another person

and who have been nominated to receive communications from the Company in accordance with Section 146 of

the Companies Act 2006 (nominated persons). Nominated persons may have the right under an agreement with

the registered shareholder who holds the shares on their behalf to be appointed (or to have someone else

appointed) as a proxy. Alternatively, if nominated persons do not have such a right, or do not wish to exercise

it, they may have a right under such an agreement to give instructions to the person holding the shares as to

the exercise of voting rights.

If two or more valid forms of proxy are delivered in respect of the same share, the one which was delivered last

(regardless of its date or the date of its execution) will be valid.

Shareholders who return completed proxy voting forms may still attend the meeting instead of their proxies, and

vote in person if they wish. In the event of a poll in which the shareholder votes in person, any proxy votes

lodged with the Company by or on behalf of such shareholder will be excluded.

CREST members who wish to appoint a proxy through the CREST electronic proxy appointment service may do
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so by using the procedures described in the CREST Manual. In order for a proxy appointment or instruction

made using the CREST service to be valid, the appropriate CREST message, regardless of whether it constitutes

the appointment of a proxy or an amendment to the instruction given to a previous appointed proxy, must, in

order to be valid, be transmitted so as to be received by Capita Registrars (ID RA10) by no later than 2pm on 8

December 2010. Please refer to the notes to the notice of the meeting for further information on proxy appoint-

ment through CREST.

16. Notice of Meeting

Notice is hereby given that the twenty-sixth Annual General Meeting of WYG plc (“Company”) will be held at the

Company’s registered office at Arndale Court, Otley Road, Headingley, Leeds LS6 2UJ on 10 December 2010 at

2pm for the following purposes:

ORDINARY BUSINESS

1. To receive and adopt the accounts for the financial year ended 30 June 2010 together with the reports of the

Directors and the auditors thereon

2. To receive and approve the Directors’ Remuneration Report for the year ended 30 June 2010

3. To appoint David Jeffcoat as a Director

4. To re-elect Paul Hamer as a Director

5. To re-elect Graham Olver as a Director

6. To re-appoint PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as auditors of the Company and to authorise the Directors to fix

their remuneration.

SPECIAL BUSINESS

To consider and, if thought fit, pass the following resolution, which will be proposed as a special resolution:

7. To authorise the Company generally and unconditionally to make market purchases (within the meaning

of section 693(4) of the Companies Act 2006) of ordinary shares of 10 pence each provided that:

a. The maximum aggregate number of ordinary shares that may be purchased is 3,528,988 representing 

10% of the Company’s issued share capital as at the date of this notice

b. The minimum price (excluding expenses) which may be paid for each ordinary share is 10 pence

c. The maximum price (excluding expenses) which may be paid for each ordinary share is the higher of:

(i) 105 per cent of the average market value of an ordinary share in the Company for the five business days

prior to the day the purchase is made; and (ii) the value of an ordinary share calculated on the basis of the

higher of the price quoted for: (a) the last independent trade of; and (b) the highest current independent bid

for, any number of the Company's ordinary shares on the trading venue where the purchase is carried out

d. The authority conferred by this resolution shall expire on 31 December 2011 or, if earlier, at the conclu-

sion of the Company's next annual general meeting save that the Company may, before the expiry of the

authority granted by this resolution, enter into a contract to purchase ordinary shares which will or may be exe-

cuted wholly or partly after the expiry of such authority

By order of the Board

Graham Olver, Secretary, Arndale Court, Otley Road, Headingley, Leeds LS6 2UJ, 30 October 2010
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17. Notes to Notice of Meeting

1.  Entitlement to attend, vote and ask questions

Only those members registered on the Company's register of members at:

• 2 pm on 8 December 2010 or

• if this Meeting is adjourned, at 6.00 pm on the day two days prior to the adjourned meeting,

shall be entitled to attend and vote at the meeting.

Any member attending the general meeting is entitled, pursuant to section 319A of the Companies Act 2006 to

ask any question relating to the business being dealt with at the meeting. The Company will answer any such

questions unless (i) to do so would interfere unduly with the preparation for the meeting or involve the disclo-

sure of confidential information; or (ii) the answer has already been given on a website in the form of an answer

to a question; or (iii) it is undesirable in the interests of the Company or the good order of the meeting that the

question be answered.

2.  Appointment of Proxies

A shareholder is not entitled to attend and vote at the meeting (whether in person or by proxy) unless his name

is entered in the register of members 48 hours before the time for holding the meeting and if the meeting is

adjourned, a shareholder is not entitled to attend and vote at the meeting (whether in person or by proxy)

unless his name is entered in the register of members 48 hours before the time for holding the adjourned meet-

ing.

A shareholder entitled to attend and vote may appoint another person, whether a shareholder or not, as his

proxy to attend and vote instead of him. A proxy need not be a member of the Company. A form of proxy is

enclosed with this notice for use in connection with the business set out on page 102. The form of proxy and

any authority under which it is executed, to be valid, must be lodged at Capita Registrars, Proxy Department,

The Registry, Beckenham Road, Beckenham, Kent BR3 4TU not less than 48 hours before the time fixed for the

meeting.

Completion and return of the form of proxy and any authority under which it is executed will not preclude a

shareholder from attending and voting at the meeting should he or she subsequently decide to do so. 

A proxy may also be appointed by registered shareholders by logging onto www.capitashareportal.com. Full

details of the procedure are given on the website. In the case of CREST members, a proxy can be appointed by

using the CREST electronic proxy appointment service in accordance with the procedures set out below.

3.  Appointment of Proxies through CREST

CREST members who wish to appoint a proxy through the CREST electronic proxy appointment service may do

so by using the procedures described in the CREST Manual.  CREST personal members or other CREST spon-

sored members and those CREST members who have appointed a voting service provider(s), should refer to

their CREST sponsor or voting service provider(s) who will be able to take the appropriate actions on their

behalf.

In order for a proxy appointment or instruction made using the CREST service to be valid, the appropriate

CREST message, (a “CREST Proxy Instruction”) must be properly authenticated in accordance with Euroclear UK

& Ireland Limited’s (formally CRESTCo’s) specifications and must contain the information required for such
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instructions, as described in the CREST manual. The message, regardless of whether it constitutes the appoint-

ment of a proxy or an amendment to the instruction given to a previously appointed proxy, must, in order to be

valid, be transmitted so as to be received by the issuer’s agent (ID RA10) not less than 48 hours before the

time of the meeting. No such message received through the CREST network after this time will be accepted. For

this purpose, the time of receipt will be taken to be the time (as determined by the timestamp applied to the

message by the Crest Applications Host) from which the issuer’s agent is able to retrieve the message by

enquiry to CREST in the manner prescribed by CREST. After this time, any change of instructions to proxies

appointed by CREST should be communicated to the appointee through other means.

CREST members and, where applicable, their CREST sponsors or voting service provider(s) should note that

Euroclear UK and Ireland Limited does not make avaialble special procedures in CREST for any particular mes-

sages. Normal system timings and limitations will therefore apply in relation to the input of CREST proxy

instructions. It is the responsibility of the CREST member concerned to take (or, if the CREST member is a

CREST personal member or sponsored member or has appointed a voting service provider(s)), to procure that

his CREST sponsor or voting service provider(s) takes(s) such action as shall be necessary to ensure that a mes-

sage is transmitted by means of the CREST system by a particular time. In this connection, CREST members

and, where applicable, their CREST sponsors or voting service providers are referred, in particular, to those sec-

tions of the CREST Manual concerning practical limitations of the CREST system and timings.

4.  Nominated Persons

The right to appoint a proxy does not apply to persons whose shares are held on their behalf by another person

and who have been nominated to receive communications from the Company in accordance with Section 146 of

the Companies Act 2006 (“nominated persons”). Nominated persons may have a right under an agreement with

the registered shareholder who holds the shares on their behalf to be appointed (or to have someone else

appointed) as a proxy. Alternatively, if nominated persons do not have such a right, or do not wish to exercise

it, they may have a right under such an agreement to give instructions to the person holding the shares as to

the exercise of voting rights.

5.  Corporate Representatives 

A corporation which is a member can appoint one or more corporate representatives who may exercise, on its

behalf, all its powers as a member provided that no more than one corporate representative exercises powers

over the same share.

6.  Issued Shares and Total Voting Rights

The total number of ordinary shares of 10 pence each in issue as at 30 October 2010, the last practicable day

before printing this document was 35,289,886 ordinary shares carrying one vote each.  Therefore the total vot-

ing rights in the Company were 35,289,886.

7.  Website Publication of Audit Concerns

Pursuant to Chapter 5 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 (sections 527 to 531), where requested by either a

member or members having a right to vote at the meeting and holding at least 5% of total voting rights of the

Company or at least 100 members have a right to vote at the meeting and holding, on average, at least £100 of

paid up share capital, the Company must publish on its website, a statement setting out any matter that such

member or members propose to raise at the Annual General Meeting relating to the audit of the Company’s

accounts (including the auditor’s report and the conduct of the audit) that are to be laid before the meeting.
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Where the Company is required to publish such a statement on its website it may not require the members mak-

ing the request to pay any expenses incurred by the Company in complying with the request, it must forward

the statement to the Company’s auditors no later than the time the statement is made available on the

Company’s website, and the statement may be dealt with as part of the business of the meeting.

A member or members wishing to request publication of such a statement on the Company’s website must send

the request to the Company using one of the following methods:

• in hard copy form to the Company Secretary, Arndale Court, Otley Road, Headingley, Leeds LS6 2UJ - the

request must be signed by a member; or

• by fax to 0113 278 3487 marked for the attention of the Company Secretary.

Whichever form of communication is chosen, the request must either set out the statement in full or, if support-

ing a statement sent by another member, clearly identify the statement which is being supported, and be

received by the Company at least one week before the Annual General Meeting.

8.  Documents on Display

The following documents will be available for inspection at the registered office of the Company during normal

business hours on any weekday (Saturday, Sunday and public holidays excepted) from the date of this notice

until the conclusion of the meeting and on 10 December 2010 at the meeting venue for at least 15 minutes

before the meeting until the conclusion of the meeting:

(a) copies of the Directors’ service contracts and letters of appointment; and

(b) the register of the Directors’ interests in the share capital of the Company.
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Results

Revenue – gross

Revenue – net 1

Operating profit 2

Profit before tax 2

(Loss)/profit attributable to equity shareholders

Dividend per share

Earnings per share 2 3

Share price at 30 June

2010

£’000

220,620

192,999

7,152

1,976

(20,716)

-

4.6p

37.5p

2009

£’000

261,629

213,927

16,980

12,112

(128,342)

-

16.6p

23.1p

2008

£’000

282,108

232,110

26,396

21,042

14,437

9.5p

31.6p

330.0p

2007

£’000

220,641

176,535

19,560

16,012

9,884

8.3p

24.5p

451.5p

2006

£’000

167,487

132,854

13,670

11,650

7,838

7.2p

20.0p

355.5p

18. Financial Summary

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

1 after deducting revenue attributable to third parties on which the Group does not make a margin.
2 before exceptional items and amortisation of acquired intangible assets and goodwill.
3 2009 has been restated to reflect the impact of the share restructuring in January 2010.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

Goodwill and other intangibles

Property, plant and equipment

Work in progress

Receivables

Payables

Shareholders’ equity

Net financial liabilities

2010

£’000

47,191

6,276

30,146

44,059

(92,670)

35,002

1,124

33,878

35,002

2009

£’000

56,171

13,854

41,189

68,283

(110,871)

68,626

(16,722)

85,348

68,626

2008

£’000

130,828

14,517

48,041

86,320

(91,117)

188,589

120,386

68,203

188,589

2007

£’000

91,628

10,841

40,867

68,352

(78,187)

133,501

88,929

44,572

133,501

2006

£’000

68,042

9,480

30,966

55,455

(59,752)

104,191

75,353

28,838

104,191
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19. Information for Shareholders

Financial Calendar

Annual Results 27 September 2010

AGM 10 December 2010

Interim Results March 2011

Share Price

Information on our share price is available on the Company’s website, www.wyg.com and is also listed in a num-

ber of daily newspapers.

Registrar

The registrar deals with all matters relating to the transfers of ordinary shares in the Company and with

enquiries concerning holdings. The registrar is: Capita Registrars, The Registry, 34 Beckenham Road,

Beckenham, Kent BR3 4TU, telephone: 0871 6640300.

The registrar’s website is www.capitaregistrars.com. This will give you access to your personal shareholding by

means of your investor code which is printed on your share certificate or statement of holding. A range of serv-

ices is available to shareholders including: setting up or amending dividend mandates, proxy voting and amend-

ing personal details. Most services require a user ID and password which will be sent to you by post once you

have registered for this service on the site.

Electronic Communications

Shareholder communications can be received electronically rather than receiving hard copies by post. This offers

shareholders an opportunity to receive company documentation quickly and in a user-friendly format while

reducing costs and the consumption of natural resources.

To register for electronic communications, go to www.capitashareportal.com. You will need to register on this

site first using your investor code and you will receive a user ID and password by post which can then be used

to register for electronic communications.

Please note that in future, notices of meetings, the Annual Report & Accounts and other shareholder documents,

will be published on the Company website at www.wyg.com.  

Company law requires that shareholders are individually asked to consent to this method of publication and a

letter from the Company is enclosed for you to sign and return if you wish to continue receiving paper copies.

Website

The WYG website, www.wyg.com, includes a section for investors which provides a wide range of information

about the Company, including the latest regulatory news and downloadable copies of the report and accounts.
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